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MISSION STATEMENT
Our mission is to be a catalyst for the development
of a dynamic small to medium sized business sector
through the provision of non-traditional financing instruments
and professional expertise to businesses in the productive sectors,
with strong profit making and growth potential.

Guiding Philosophy
Enterprise Growth Fund Limited (EGFL) is committed to fostering the growth of
young, dynamic Barbadian firms with superior growth and profit potential.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Row 1: Sir Stephen Emtage, Mr. Terrence Thornhill – Chairman, Mr. Almroth Williams
Row 2: Mr. John Cole, Mr. Richard Matthews – Deputy Chairman, Mr. Peter Whitehall
Row 3: Dr. Patricia Downes-Grant, Mr. John Beale, Mr. Edward Griffith
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COMPANY OVERVIEW
On January 2, 1998 EGFL commenced
operations as a limited liability company,
which provided venture capital to the small
and medium sized enterprise (SME) sector as
well as business advisory services and technical
assistance to its client companies. The aim was
to become a minority shareholder in dynamic
enterprises which had significant potential for
growth and development.

boards of trustees. EGFL, as Fund Manager
of the respective funds, manages all of the
Funds by delegated authority. The approval/
rejection of project proposals submitted for
funding is undertaken by the respective board
or committee vested with the responsibility for
reviewing and approving project proposals.

FUND MANAGEMENT PROFILE
Small Hotels Investment Fund

Within a few years of EGFL’s inception, it
became apparent that the local entrepreneurial
class did not have a strong preference for
venture capital financing alone. In response to
this, EGFL was repositioned as a Fund Manager
offering loans from dedicated, sector-specific
Funds which it managed.
Additionally,
loan financing, ranging from $100,000 to
$1.5 million, from EGFL’s own account was
introduced to the SME sector in 2004.

The $35 million Small Hotels Investment
Fund (SHIF) provides financing to small hotels
that are members of the Intimate Hotels of
Barbados (Intimate Group) to assist with the
refurbishing of their properties. It also provides
funding to assist with group marketing,
training and the procurement of goods and
services for members of the Intimate Group.
The maximum loan size is $5.25 million and
the interest rate is fixed at 5% per annum.

These developments have enabled EGFL to
cater to a wider cross-section of businesses
and allowed it to fulfil its mandate of providing
development finance to the critical SME
sector.

Tourism Loan Fund

GOVERNANCE
Board of Directors
EGFL is managed by a Board of Directors which
holds office from the date elected until the
following Annual Meeting of the Shareholders
at which time the directors are eligible for reelection.

Funds under Management
Each Fund under management has its own
corporate governance structure and is
governed by independent committees or

The Tourism Loan Fund provides loans for
the refurbishing and upgrading of hotels and
attractions and/or for the construction of
facilities to be used for the purpose of carrying
on business in the areas of historical, cultural
and natural heritage attractions. The maximum
loan size is the higher of $4.5 million or 15% of
the total capitalisation of the Fund. The interest
rate is currently set at 7.5% per annum.

Agricultural Development Fund
The Agricultural Development Fund (ADF)
provides loan financing from $50,000 to $1
million to help Barbados’ farming and fishing
communities become more competitive.
The ADF also provides incentives, technical
assistance and grants. The interest rate is
currently set at 6.5% per annum.
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Industrial, Investment and Employment
Fund
The Industrial, Investment and Employment
Fund provides loan and equity financing up
to $2 million, on attractive terms, to help
local manufacturers create growth-oriented
companies. The interest rate is currently set at
5.5% per annum.

Innovation Fund
The Innovation Fund provides seed capital from
$25,000 to $250,000 and technical expertise
to entrepreneurs who have an innovative idea
and are in need of funds to commercialise their
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ideas. The aim is to fund marketable ideas
which have good profit making and foreign
exchange potential.

Export Promotion and Marketing Fund
The Export Promotion and Marketing Fund
was initially capitalised at $12 million in
January 2007. The Fund was created to provide
funding by way of a grant to corporate entities
including statutory corporations involved in
the business of exporting and to assist with
the development, promotion and marketing of
products and services.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

We are pleased to report that EGFL has reported
its fourth consecutive year of profitability with
net after tax income totalling $0.81 million
which represents a 24% increase year on year.

The rise in real economic output was once
more driven by the strength of the non-traded
sectors, while the traded sectors showed signs
of improvement.

This improved position has been occasioned
by a series of underlying factors including the
realignment of the management fee levied
on the SHIF as well as the management fees
earned on activation of a new fund, the Export
Promotion and Marketing Fund. Management
fee income continues to be the major source
of EGFL’s revenue representing $2.4 million or
72.6% of total income, a figure slightly higher
than last year’s amount of $1.85 million. As a
result of this profitability trend, EGFL is now in
a position to declare a dividend to its Class “A”
shareholders for the first time since inception.

Economic development continues to be
buoyed by a booming construction sector,
in response to tourism sector demands,
residential and commercial developments, and
the implementation of government capital/
infrastructural programmes. Following growth
of 7% in 2006, it was estimated that real
output in the construction sector increased by
a further 5% in 2007.

ECONOMIC REVIEW 2007
The Barbados economy experienced growth
for the sixth consecutive year, reporting an
estimated growth rate of approximately 4.3%
in 2007, which is slightly above the average
rate of 3.1% recorded for the last five years.

Following a reduction in the first quarter,
the tourism sector gained momentum in
the last three quarters to record growth of
approximately 3.3% in real
output for 2007. This was
predominantly driven by
the increase in the number
of visitors to the island
during the Cricket World
Cup (CWC 2007), as well as
continued growth in arrivals
from the US and Canadian
markets. Long-stay arrivals
increased by 2.6% in 2007,
while the number of cruise
ship
passenger
arrivals
experienced healthy growth
of 12.3%, following a
decline of 4.8% recorded in
the preceding year (2006).
In response to the overall
increase in the level of disposable income, the
wholesale and retail industry expanded by an
estimated 5.9% in 2007, marginally higher
than the growth rate in the prior year period
(5.3%), while output in the transportation,
storage and communication industry rose by
5.6%.
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Real economic activity in the manufacturing
sector remained relatively unchanged during
2007, following three years of growth averaging
1.8%. The beverages and tobacco sub-sector
was the only category which reported notable
expansion, experiencing growth of 9.8%
over the previous period. In comparison, the
production of electronic components, garment
manufacturing, wooden furniture and nonmetallic products sub-sectors contracted by
18.6%, 10.0%, 0.5% and 2.8% respectively.
In 2007, robust expansion in domestic deposits
outstripped the growth of new commercial
bank lending to the non-financial private sector.
As a result, liquidity in the banking system
increased, which was reflected in a liquid asset
ratio of 10.1% at the end of 2007, up from
7.9% in 2006. In light of the rising liquidity
levels and the decline in international interest
rates, the Central Bank of Barbados lowered
the minimum deposit rate in November 2007
from five hundred and twenty-five basis points
to four hundred and seventy-five basis points.
The security reserve requirement was also
reduced in an effort to continue the process of
financial liberalisation.
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In relation to the global economy, there was
and remains, a relatively significant level of
uncertainty surrounding the international
environment which ultimately plays a pivotal
role in the performance of our local economy.
In particular, the US economy experienced
some turmoil in 2007 with high oil prices,
declining domestic sales and weakening
exchange rates and the fallout of the subprime
mortgage crisis in the international capital
markets. These trends were also generally
reflected and felt in the domestic and regional
economies. However, in the midst of potential
economic adversity, the SME sector in
Barbados, particularly in the areas of tourism
and agricultural development, continues to
be vibrant and remains on course for further
development. This has been observed through
the stable demand by SMEs for finance and
capital investments required to develop these
enterprises to competitive and sustainable
levels over the short to medium term. However,
a cautious approach must still be taken, as the
potential exists for a slowdown, in the event
that there is an extended downturn in major
international economies.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
During the year under review, management
was faced with the challenging task of making
sure that its investment/loan portfolio was
represented fairly in its financial statements
in compliance with international financial
reporting standards. To this end, EGFL made
an additional $0.59 million in investment/loan
loss provisions as compared with last year’s
total of $0.5 million. These write offs were
made based on management’s assessment of
EGFL’s ability to collect outstanding amounts
due according to the contractual terms of its
portfolio of equity investments and loans. It is
noted however that, even though providing for
investment/loan losses is considered to be an
accepted accounting treatment, management
will spare no effort in the collection and
recovery of delinquent loans in EGFL’s portfolio
and its funds under management.
Total operating expenses for 2007 increased by
13.9% over those of the previous year to $2.5
million, with non-cash expenses accounting for
28.7% of this total. This increase was mainly
attributable to increases in staff training costs
and salary emoluments. EGFL’s total asset base
reached $14.21 million at the end of 2007 and
comprised mainly cash and short-term deposits
of $3.85 million and net loans/investments of
approximately $8.84 million.
The company’s return on capital invested
increased from 6.7% in 2006 to 7.7% for 2007

mainly as a result of an increase in profitability
during the financial year. No additional funding
was received from Government or from its Class
“A” shareholders during 2007. Management
estimates that during the upcoming financial
year, EGFL’s resources for investing will be fully
committed hence giving rise to the need for
a further capital injection in order to meet
the funding needs of small and medium sized
businesses.
There was a significant increase in the demand
for the funds under EGFL’s management during
fiscal year 2007. This was evidenced by a marked
increase in approvals and disbursements which
were recorded at $36.28 million and $39.61
million respectively compared to $21.69 million
and $27.71 million respectively for the prior
year. These amounts represent an increase
of 20.3% in approvals and a 35.4% increase
in facility disbursements when compared
with the previous financial year. The total
capitalisation of all funds currently being
managed has increased to $185.12 million.
Cumulatively, EGFL recorded a total of $219.31
million in loan/equity and grant approvals, of
which $28.08 million represents outstanding
commitments and $27.58 million is attributable
to lapsed approvals.
As at December 31, 2007, total disbursements
across all Funds stood at $162.36 million. The
Export Promotion and Marketing Fund was

ENTERPRISE GROWTH FUND LIMITED – ANNUAL REPORT 2007

“Fostering Growth”

11

largely responsible for the surge in disbursement
activity during 2007 where disbursements
totalled $9.74 million It is expected that this
trend will continue during the upcoming
financial year as the public awareness and
interest in accessing funds for development of
the export sector increases.
Management feels confident that EGFL will
continue to show continued growth and
profitability in the upcoming financial year but
this achievement will be tempered by the timing
of a capital injection from the shareholders
and the level of loan loss provisions that may
be required during the upcoming fiscal year.
Based on the success stories of a number of
our clients, we strongly believe that EGFL is
emerging as the preferred financial institution
for small and medium sized businesses.

SMALL HOTELS INVESTMENT FUND

Sugar Cane Club is one of the properties which was
refurbished to a three star standard.

The Small Hotels Refurbishment Scheme
operated by the Small Hotels Investment Fund
(SHIF) commenced officially on April 1, 2005
with the objective to refurbish and upgrade at
least 500 of the 700 hotel rooms in the small
hotels sub-sector, bringing them to a minimum
3-star standard.
This programme of assistance to small hotels,
which are required to be members of the
Intimate Hotels of Barbados to access the
Scheme, was initiated by Government to
forestall the anticipated deficit in the quantity
and quality of rooms for the ICC Cricket
12
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World Cup 2007. To this end, Government
announced the creation of a $30 million Small
Hotels Refurbishment Scheme to be managed
by the Small Hotels Investment Fund, on terms
and conditions similar to those in place for
accessing financing from the Small Hotels
Investment Fund. Its purpose was to provide
affordable financial and technical resources
to small hoteliers to improve their physical
product not only in time for the event but also
for them to become more competitive in the
market place. This would form the basis for
increased appeal, occupancy, average rates,
profitability and ultimately sustainability for
the sub-sector.
A total of 21 hotels signed expressions of
interest to participate in the scheme. Of these
14 proceeded to contract stage to access the
funding and technical assistance under the
Scheme. These hotels represent a total of 457
rooms, 85% of which have already completed
construction with the remainder scheduled for
early in 2008. Of the 457 rooms, 313 represent
existing rooms refurbished and upgraded and
the opportunity was taken by these hotels to
add 144 new rooms thereby expanding these
properties and the overall rooms stock in
Barbados.
Thirteen (13) of the fourteen (14) participating
hotels have or will meet the stipulated brands
and standards set by the scheme and will
provide a minimum of a 3 star hotel product.
The single hotel in the scheme that has not
done so opted for a lower construction budget
after commencement on account of a change
in the circumstances of the company.
As we approach the end of the project, there
are still 5 hotels representing another 113 rooms
(67 existing and 46 new) which have shown
a keen interest in pursuing the opportunity
of refurbishment under the scheme which is
now fully committed. These hotels will require
$13.65 million additional funds which would
be needed to complete their projected works.
Based on additional enquiries estimated at $5
million and the additional projected cost of
technical assistance services, it is anticipated
that a total additional facility of $20 million
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would be required to satisfy the additional
requests for the sub-sector. Representations to
this extent have been made to the Ministry of
Finance.
The recently implemented agreement by
the Barbados Tourism Authority with the
American Automobile Association (AAA) to
provide Diamond ratings to all establishments
in Barbados has so far rated three hotels in the
Scheme, two of which have received 2-Diamond
ratings and one a 1-Diamond rating. Two
other properties are expecting the results of
their rating in the near future. Properties are
also reporting increases in occupancy of up to
20% over the pre-upgrade period and in the
case of achieved room rates, 9-18% increases.
As expected, there is also general improved
acceptance by the tour operator community of
the upgraded hotels.

TOURISM LOAN FUND
During the year ended December 31 2007,
the Tourism Loan Fund (TLF) received a paltry
three applications and disbursements were
negligible; there were no new approvals during
the year under review. This compares to nine
applications, $1.22 million in loan approvals
and $7.17 million in loan disbursements for
the prior year. Since inception the TLF has
approved 17 applications totalling $41.22
million and disbursed $23.75 million to the
hotel and attractions sub sectors. These
funding interventions have contributed to the
refurbishment of 235 hotel rooms, the creation
of 72 new rooms and the development of 3
new attractions.
The demand for funds under the TLF financing
window was very slow during the year under
review. Most of the small hotels that undertook
refurbishing during 2007 opted for funding
provided under the Small Hotels Refurbishing
Scheme where the terms and conditions
are much more attractive. In particular, the
technical assistance component of the project
comprising architectural, interior design and
project management services coupled with a
five year moratorium on principal and interest
repayments and an interest rate of 5% fixed
proved to be too attractive to refuse.

Sunbay Resort Hotel is one of the projects which has
been funded by the Tourism Loan Fund

In addition to the competition from the SHIF,
there are a number of restrictions in the
operating guidelines of the TLF which may
have militated against its greater utilisation
by the small hotel sector. Namely, an entity
wishing to access funding for the construction
of completely new accommodation is not
eligible for funding from the TLF; it must be an
existing hotel seeking to expand or refurbish
or an entity desirous of refurbishing an existing
tourist attraction or building a new one.
Representations have been made to the
Central Bank of Barbados, the owners of the
TLF, to revise the operating guidelines so that it
would be able to cater to an expanded target
market in an effort to foster greater demand
for the utilization of this financing window.
We anticipate that these changes should come
into effect in 2008.
Notwithstanding the above, the outlook for
2008 is promising as evidenced by the dollar
value of prospective applications received
towards the end of 2007, which was recorded
at approximately $5 million. This, coupled
with the fact that resources of the Small Hotels
Investment Fund are fully committed, should
translate into a greater demand for funding
and result in significantly higher approvals and
disbursements during 2008.
During December 2007, TLF was able to
recover approximately $2.44 million owed
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by Golden Anchorage Limited, a company
which owned and operated the Regent Hotel.
Golden Anchorage was placed in receivership
during 2003 and the Regent Hotel was sold
by public auction for $43 million in May 2007.
These reflows will be used to assist with the
continued expansion and modernisation of the
tourism sector.

AGRICULTURAL DEVELOPMENT FUND
Since inception in April 2002, the Agricultural
Development Fund (ADF) has been capitalised
with $71.16 million in funding. These resources
have been provided to the agricultural sector
for the process of modernisation, in terms of
technology and management practices, as
the sector seeks to become more competitive
in the increasingly liberalised, global trading
environment.
Thus far the response of the farming community
to this dedicated line of financing has been
very positive. This is borne out by the $76.3
million which had been approved for clients,
net of lapsed commitments, up to December
31, 2007.
Based on the aggregate level of approvals
noted above, the approvals for the year 2007
would have totalled $11.63 million since the
total approvals from start-up to December
2006 were $64.67 million. Cumulatively,

The Agricultural Development Fund helps to promote
greenhouse farming in Barbados, including this project
at Hydrogrow Farms Inc.
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approvals for loans and equity at December
2007 were $28.38 million while the amount for
grants was $47.92 million. The corresponding
amounts up to December 2006 were $26.61
million and $38.06 million respectively. The
sum of disbursements up to December 2007
was $75.72 million, consisting of $28.96
million in loans and equity and $46.76 million
in grants.
Within loan and equity approvals, sugar,
poultry, cotton and vegetables/fruit continue
to pre-dominate. These four areas of activity
represented 33.8%, 25.7%, 17.8% and
14.3% respectively of cumulative approvals
at December 31, 2007. At the end of 2006,
the corresponding contributions of these
categories to total approvals were 33.8%,
23.7%, 19% and 14.8%. Generally, in each
of these sub-sectors, the funding has been
requested to upgrade the technology being
used and/or for the launch of initiatives to
extract more of the value-added from the raw
materials we currently produce.
Of note during the past financial year was the
performance of a greenhouse/hydroponics
project which was approved in late 2006. The
principals have demonstrated the technical
capacity to handle this type of venture and
this investment, which has a significant capital
component, is indicative of the direction in
which more of our farmers should take if they
want to remain viable. Not only is the project
performing well from a technical standpoint
but the market has responded favourably to
its offerings.
In light of sugar’s central role in the agricultural
sector of Barbados and Government’s stated
intention to continue supporting its cultivation,
it is within this context that most of the grants
approved to date have been disbursed to this
sub-sector. At December 31, 2007, $33.82
million or 70.5% of the $47.92 million in
grant approvals had been allocated to sugar.
The only other recipients of significant grant
approvals at year-end 2007 were the Barbados
Agricultural Development and Marketing
Corporation (BADMC), $6.84 million and
Southern Meats Inc., $5.79 million.

ENTERPRISE GROWTH FUND LIMITED – ANNUAL REPORT 2007

Clearly, the ADF is having a significant and
positive impact on the local agricultural sector
as farmers and other agencies continue to
utilise its resources in an effort to modernise
their operations. These efforts will help them
and the country withstand the ever-increasing
competitive pressures and contribute to some
level of food security.
Given the spiralling food costs, any effort to
increase food output in an efficient manner will
redound to the benefit of all Barbadians and
the ADF will continue to feature prominently
in this regard.

INDUSTRIAL,
INVESTMENT
EMPLOYMENT FUND (IIEF)

AND

The fiscal year under review was the busiest in
the existence of the IIEF with respect to funds
approved. During 2007, the Fund approved $7
million in loans and equity representing 46.1%
of the $17.5 million in net cumulative approvals.
As a consequence of the aforementioned, the
$15 million which the Fund was capitalised
with between November 2002 and February
2004 is essentially fully committed.
The activity highlighted above continued the
trend from last year when five additional loans
and one equity investment, totalling $5.12
million, were approved under the IIEF; five
proposals were responsible for the $7 million
approved in 2007.
The approvals for 2007 comprised $3 million
for furniture manufacturing, $2.12 million for
solar water heater manufacturing, $1 million for
manufacturing houses, $0.77 million for stone
products manufacturing and $0.13 million
for music production. Total disbursements
at the end of 2007 were $12.01 million, up
from $4.49 million at December 31, 2006.
Interestingly, the increase in approvals noted for
the past two years has come despite the weak
performance of this sector of the economy
during this period. This leaves one to speculate
that manufacturers are probably becoming
more aware of the IIEF and the benefits which
it can provide for their businesses.

The investments in furniture manufacturing
and stone fabrication were predicated on
the desire of the applicants to improve
their competitiveness and enhance their
sustainability. In both instances, a significant
part of the funding will assist in improving their
technological efficiencies as the companies
seek to consolidate their market positions and
expand their export capabilities. The solar water
heater project is an example of an initiative to
export the technology used in Barbados as a
means of earning foreign exchange through a
licensing arrangement. The music production
entity has the potential to save foreign exchange
as it will be able to provide a service which
was previously unavailable in the island, while
the manufacturer of pre-fabricated houses
was seeking to satisfy the significant demand
for low-cost housing. While the performance
of the manufacturing sector as a whole has
been somewhat sluggish in the recent past,
there are opportunities for some operators to
grow and expand their businesses. Indications
are that the businesses most likely to develop
further already have a well established product
or service in the market place which is backed
by good management. The IIEF will do all that
it can to assist these and other companies as
it strives to fulfil its mandate to this important
sector of the economy.

“Increasing competitiveness throughout the
manufacturing sector” – Antillean Marble and Granite
Inc. is one of the manufacturing companies which has
benefited through funding from the IIEF.
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“There is no doubt that creativity is the most important human
resource of all. Without creativity, there would be no progress,
and we would be forever repeating the same patterns.” (Edward de Bono)

The National Innovation Competition 2007/2008, Awards Ceremony – The first prize of $75,000 was awarded to
Vanavah Edwards (second from right)

INNOVATION FUND
The Innovation Fund (IF), capitalised with $5
million in January 2003, provides financial
assistance to those entrepreneurs who have an
innovative business idea but who are in need
of funds to commercialise this idea. This Fund
also provides technical assistance to businesses
which are in the process of innovation as well
as those that wish to innovate but are unable
to do so due to inadequate technical and
financial resources.

to be speculative as the principals ventured into
non-traditional and risky areas of enterprise.
This view has not changed but some
developments in the latter part of 2007
suggested that one of the clients may well be
on the way towards the commercialisation of
the service being offered. This client is in the
area of information technology.

At December 31, 2007, approvals since
inception totalled $2.25 million; this compares
with $1.33 million for the corresponding period
of 2006. Approvals at the end of December
2007 included a grant of $0.04 million to a
food processor. The $0.92 million approved
in 2007 consisted of $0.25 million to assist
with the production of a full length feature
film, an additional $0.16 million for a theatrical
production, $0.10 million for a board game,
$0.20 million for an educational management
software company and $0.21 million for a food
processor. By year-end of 2007, $1.29 million
of the cumulative amount approved up to that
time had been disbursed.

After organising and sponsoring the first
two national innovation competitions, the
management of the third competition has
been turned over to National Council for
Science and Technology (NCST). This was
done since it was felt that such a competition
dovetails with other initiatives of the NCST and
some synergies could be derived as a result of
this. The competition, which aims to stimulate
the public’s interest in developing innovative
solutions to everyday problems, has a first
prize of $75,000. Even though the IF no longer
manages the competition, it continues to
support the promotion of innovative thinking
through sponsorship of the competition and
funding of approved projects.

Previously, it was acknowledged that many of
the proposals financed by this Fund were likely

Sponsorship of the Innovation Competition
and the funding of proposals under the IF
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represent the initial steps in the process of
transforming the entrepreneurial landscape
of Barbados into a more dynamic and vibrant
one. As is the case with most transformational
processes, challenges arise. However, EGFL
is appreciative of the significance of the
Fund’s mandate and its importance in the
development of this country. To this end, EGFL
will continue to provide support and direction
to this important endeavour through the IF.

EXPORT
PROMOTION
MARKETING FUND

AND

The Export Promotion and Marketing Fund was
capitalized in January 2007 and considered its
first batch of applications in February 2007.
As at December 31 2007, eight applications
totalling $23.18 million were approved with
disbursements amounting to $9.74 million.
This Fund is dedicated to providing financial
support to both public and private sector
entities in the business of exporting or
promoting the sale of Barbadian goods and
services in overseas markets.
The seven

Banks (Barbados) Breweries Limited - The Export
Promotion and Marketing Fund provided financial support
to help in the launch of Banks Beer in the USA market.

approved applications referred to above are
drawn from a diverse range of businesses in
the cultural, tourism, beverage, ecommerce
and services industries. One of the companies
in the culture and arts sector is seeking to
showcase a number of Barbadian performing
artists in the international market while the
other is promoting the sale of paintings of
renowned Barbadian artists in the export
market. A leading beverage company has
also benefited from a substantial export grant
which is to be used to finance its product
launch in the United States market.
The majority of funds disbursed so far has
been used to assist with the start-up and
operating expenses of Invest Barbados, an
entity established by Government to promote
the development of Barbados’ international
business sector and the export of Barbadian
goods and services.
Although it is still too early to gauge the
full impact of the assistance provided so far,
we believe that these funding interventions
will make a substantial contribution to the
development of a vibrant export sector over
the medium term. It is also heartening to
note that the majority of the applicants who
have benefited from this fund are operating
in non-traditional areas of export where there
exist tremendous potential to earn substantial
foreign exchange. Without the assistance
provided by this fund many of these businesses
would not have been able make a foray into
the export market.
It is estimated that the private sector
beneficiaries of this fund could generate
approximately US$7.5 million in foreign
exchange on the realization of the revenue
projections articulated in their business
proposals.

ENTERPRISE GROWTH FUND LIMITED – ANNUAL REPORT 2007

“Fostering Growth”

17

SUMMARY AND FINANCIAL OUTLOOK FOR 2008
As 2008 progresses, we expect that activity in
the small and medium sized business sector will
slow down and the full impact and implications
of the global recession, occasioned by the
sub-prime crisis in the US, become apparent.
Naturally, this depressed activity will lead to
less demand for credit as businesses tend to
be cautious during times of uncertainty. This
may imply that EGFL would have to work with
some of its clients to restructure loans and to
provide assistance to them to help weather
the economic shocks that may ensue from the
impending slow down.
There are some businesses which are well
placed to weather the impending slow down.
Those with sound balance sheets and strong
competitive positions will fare better than
those with high debt levels and weak strategic
positioning. Actually, some of the stronger
companies may use this slow down as an
opportunity to further consolidate their market
position. Thus, even though a general slow
down in economic activity is anticipated, the
residual demand provided by some of the more
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resilient businesses and the projects which
are currently being processed should utilise a
significant portion of the uncommitted funds
during 2008.
Despite these challenges EGFL still needs to be
in the forefront of stimulating the expansion of
the SME sector. To this end, we will continue
to go out on the risk curve while ensuring that
due diligence procedures are comprehensive
to minimise downside risk and prevent an
increase in the number of delinquent loans.
On the funding side EGFL will seek to become
a full fledged financial intermediary so as to
access low cost funding from the wholesale
financing windows available to developmental
finance institutions.
Despite the fact that 2008 is poised to be a
challenging year we are confident that EGFL
will continue its trend of profitability. This will
help the company to be a financially viable and
sustainable developmental financial institution
as it pursues its mandate of providing risk capital
for the development of the SME sector.

ENTERPRISE GROWTH FUND LIMITED – ANNUAL REPORT 2007

STAFF AND ORGANISATIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Changes in the Board of Directors
Towards the end of 2007, two long standing
members of the board, Mr. Jefferson Reeves
and Mr. Mariano Browne, resigned as directors
of EGFL. Mr. Reeves served on EGFL’s board
from inception and his resignation was
occasioned by his retirement from the Central
Bank of Barbados on October 2, 2007.
Mr. Browne, who was also a director from
inception and served as Chairman from 2003
to 2007 resigned to become a Minister in the
Government of Trinidad and Tobago.
The Board of Directors expresses its appreciation
to the sterling contribution made by Messrs.
Browne and Reeves and extends best wishes
to them in their future endeavours. The
directors also extend a warm welcome to Mr.
Peter Whitehall who was elected to the board
on November 27, 2007.

manpower to meet current and future needs
of the company, as well as to foster employees’
interest to pursue knowledge and to advance
their personal and professional development.
The synergy of employees’ technical skills and
high level of work commitment contributed
immeasurably to the company achieving its
strategic objectives.
During the year, management and staff
participated in specific training courses and
conferences, both locally and overseas to
increase their knowledge base and skills in
order to upgrade their professional expertise.
In addition, the company encouraged
and strongly supported staff in pursuing
professional designated courses which were
identified as relevant to the company’s
business operations and of direct value to the
employees’ job functions and scope of work.

Staff Developments
Our staff complement of 11 persons was
maintained throughout the year as we
extended best wishes to Mrs. Paula LouisGrant, Senior Investment Analyst who resigned
effective April 30, 2007; and we welcomed a
new member of staff, Rohan Cumberbatch, to
the post of Investment Analyst on September
3, 2007.
We are pleased to highlight that in February
2007 Ms. Dawn Harper was promoted to the
position of Corporate Administrator and in
May 2007 congratulations were extended to
Mrs. Adeshia Griffith on the birth of her son.

Training
EGFL is committed to improving job
performance and fostering the professional
growth and development of all employees.
Our training and development programmes are
aimed to provide an internal source of qualified

Employee Incentive Plan
EGFL has recognised that in order to ensure
optimal results, from a financial and human
resource standpoint, greater employee
commitment and involvement at all
levels are crucial to the company’s future
growth and success. To this end, eligible
employees were rewarded with cash bonuses
in July 2007 through the Performance-Based
Incentive Plan which the company introduced
for its staff in the latter half of 2006.
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT
The Board of Directors would like to express
appreciation to the management and staff
of EGFL whose expertise and hard work were
largely responsible for the positive results
reported for the period under review.
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White Sands Condominiums - St. Lawrence Gap, Christ Church
WSB Apartments Limited (White Sands Condominiums) is a project which epitomises the transformational impact
EGFL has had within the SME sector. This project involved the conversion of a modest ten room guest house in St.
Lawrence Gap into a spectacular 22 room condominium facility fronting a secluded beach with beautiful white sand.
As a result of accessing funding from EGFL, the owner is now in control of a much more sustainable economic asset
which has significant potential to boost the island’s foreign exchange earnings and employment generation.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the Shareholders
Enterprise Growth Fund Limited
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Enterprise Growth Fund Limited, which comprise
the balance sheet as at December 31, 2007, the statements of income, changes in shareholders’ equity and
the cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory notes.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying
appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Enterprise Growth Fund Limited as of December 31, 2007, its financial performance and its cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Chartered Accountants
Bridgetown, Barbados
May 28, 2008

2
KPMG, a Barbados partnership, is a Barbados member firm of
KPMG International, a Swiss cooperative
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Enterprise Growth Fund Limited
ENTERPRISE
GROWTH FUND LIMITED
Notes
to Financial Statements
December
2006
Statement of31,
Income

(Amounts in Barbados dollars)

For the year ended December 31, 2007
with comparative figures for December 31, 2006
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

Notes
Revenue
Management fees
Evaluation fees
Investment income
Interest on short term deposits
Other

15

$

Expenses
Operating
Depreciation
Provision for loan losses
Provision for investment losses
Amortisation
Bad debt (recovery)

Income before taxation
Taxation
Net income

$

2007

2006

2,400,609
278,530
407,041
159,044
63,332

1,852,870
216,307
299,188
223,560
150,189

3,308,556

2,742,114

1,781,259
93,096
126,830
467,720
33,834
(3,855)

1,560,883
98,362
156,395
345,000
33,834
-

2,498,884

2,194,474

809,672

547,640

-

105,512

809,672

653,152

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Enterprise Growth Fund Limited
ENTERPRISE
GROWTH FUND LIMITED
Notes
to Financial Statements
December
31,
2006 in Shareholders’ Equity
Statement of
Changes
(Amounts in Barbados dollars)

For the year ended December 31, 2007
with comparative figures for December 31, 2006
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

Class A
Shares

Notes
Balances, January 1, 2006

$

Class B Shares issued

3,501,000

13

-

Net income
Balances,
2006

December

31,

3,501,000

Net income
Balances,
2007

December

31,

$

3,501,000

Class B
Shares

Accumulated
(Deficit)/Surplus

Total

Total

3,071,491

6,572,491

(124,669)

6,447,822

3,970,000

3,970,000

-

3,970,000

-

653,152

653,152

528,483

11,070,974

809,672

809,672

1,338,155

11,880,646

7,041,491

10,542,491

7,041,491

10,542,491

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Enterprise Growth Fund Limited
ENTERPRISE
GROWTH FUND LIMITED
Notes
to Financial Statements
December
2006
Statement of31,
Cash
Flows

(Amounts in Barbados dollars)

For the year ended December 31, 2007
with comparative figures for December 31, 2006
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

Notes
Operating Activities
Income before taxation

$

Adjustments for:Interest on short term deposits
Depreciation
Amortisation
Deferred shareholder grant
Bad debts (recovery)
Increase in provision for investment losses
Provision for loan losses

6

Operating profit before working capital changes

2007

2006

809,672

547,640

(159,044)
93,096
33,834
(27,200)
(3,855)
467,720
126,830

(223,560)
98,362
33,834
5,935
345,000
156,395

1,341,053

963,606

Accounts receivable and prepayments
Loans receivable
Due from related party
Accounts payable
Pension liability
Due to related party

25,819
(1,524,569)
28,750
(59,503)
(26,037)
(1,000,000)

254,197
23,813
(57,500)
(180,915)
(86,712)
(4,000,000)

Taxation
Interest received on short term deposits

(1,214,487)
(18,075)
162,142

(3,083,511)
(24,765)
220,483

(1,070,420)

(2,887,793)

(164,436)
(82,970)

49,892
(152,257)

(247,406)

(102,365)

Net cash used in operating activities
Investing Activities
Investments
Purchase of fixed assets

7

Net cash used in investing activities
Financing Activities
Issue of shares

13

Net cash (used in) from financing activities
(Decrease) increase in cash and short term deposits

3,970,000

-

3,970,000

(1,317,826)

Cash and short term deposits – beginning of year
Cash and short term deposits – end of year

-

$

979,842

5,171,106

4,191,264

3,853,280

5,171,106

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Enterprise Growth Fund Limited
ENTERPRISE
GROWTH FUND LIMITED
Notes
to Financial Statements
December
31, 2006
Notes to Financial Statements
(Amounts in Barbados dollars)

December 31, 2007
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

1. Incorporation and Principal Activities
Enterprise Growth Fund Limited (“the Company”) was incorporated in Barbados as a company
authorized to issue an unlimited number of Class A common shares and an unlimited number of Class B
common shares without par value.
The principal activities of the Company are the provision of venture capital and loan financing to
appropriate Barbadian corporations and the provision of fund management services.
The financial statements were authorised for issue by the directors on May 28, 2008.
2. Significant Accounting Policies
(a) Basis of preparation
The financial statements are prepared in Barbados dollars on the historic cost basis in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) promulgated by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB). The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets, liabilities,
and contingent assets and contingent liabilities at the balance sheet date and the income and expenses
for the year then ended. Actual amounts could differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.
(b) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted:
A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are not yet effective for the
year ended December 31 2007, and have not yet been applied in preparing these financial
statements, those which were considered relevant to the Company are as follows:
Amendments to IAS 32 Financial instruments: Presentation and IAS 1, Presentation of Financial
Statements is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2009. The amendments
allow certain instruments that would normally be classified as liabilities to be classified as equity if
certain conditions are met. Where such instruments are reclassified, the entity is required to disclose
the amount, the timing and the reason for the reclassification.
(c) Cash and short term deposits
Cash and short term deposits comprise cash on hand, cash at bank and call and fixed deposits with
original maturity dates of 90 days or less.
(d) Accounts receivable, net
Accounts receivable are stated at their nominal value less any provisions for estimated irrecoverable
balances of $44,638 (2006: $48,494).
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Enterprise Growth Fund Limited
ENTERPRISE
GROWTH FUND LIMITED
Notes
to Financial Statements
December
31, 2006
Notes to Financial
Statements
(Amounts in Barbados dollars)

December 31, 2007
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

2. Significant Accounting Policies, continued
(e) Revenue recognition
Income from loans
Income from loans is recognised as it accrues. Loans are placed on a non-accrual basis when there is
reasonable doubt regarding the collectibility of principal or interest or when principal and/or interest
payments are 90 days or more in arrears. Upon classification of a loan to a non-accrual basis, any
previously accrued but unpaid interest thereon is reversed against the current period. Interest is only
accrued to the extent that unpaid interest is paid and total accrued interest does not exceed 180 days.
In subsequent periods, interest received on non-accrual loans is recorded as income only if
management has determined that the loans do not require specific provisions, otherwise all amounts are
credited to principal.
Management fees
Management fees are recognised as they accrued.
(f) Provision for loan losses
Provision for loan losses comprises specific provisions. Specific provisions are made on an individual
basis, where management is of the opinion that collection is doubtful.
(g) Investments, net
Investments are recorded at cost. Provision for losses is made at a level considered adequate to absorb
anticipated losses based on specific provisions considering the current economic conditions and other
relevant factors.
(h) Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation and
amortization are provided on the straight-line basis at rates based on the estimated useful life of each
asset. The annual rates applied are:
Leasehold improvements
Vehicles
Furniture and equipment
Computer equipment
Office equipment

-

10.0%
20.0%
20.0%
33.3%
12.5%

Amortization is charged to the income statement on a straight line basis over the estimated useful life of
the leasehold improvements at a rate of 10.0%
(i) Impairment
The carrying amounts of the Company’s assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An impairment loss is recognized whenever the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized in the income statement.
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Enterprise Growth Fund Limited
ENTERPRISE
GROWTH FUND LIMITED
Notes
to Financial Statements
December
31, 2006
Notes to Financial
Statements
(Amounts in Barbados dollars)

December 31, 2007
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

2

Significant Accounting Policies, continued

(j) Deferred shareholder grant
Shareholder grants relating specifically to technical assistance for investees are deferred and recognised
into income as costs are incurred for such technical assistance.
(k) Taxation
The taxation charge in the statement of income comprises current and deferred taxation. Current
taxation is provided on the basis of the income before taxation for financial reporting purposes, adjusted
for income and expense items which are not assessable or deductible for tax purposes. Deferred
taxation is provided under the balance sheet liability method in respect of significant temporary
differences arising from differences between the carrying amount of an asset and liability for financial
reporting purposes and the amount used for income tax purposes. Deferred tax assets are recognised
to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable income will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
The Minister of Finance has approved a waiver of income tax and withholding tax liabilities for the fiscal
years 2000 to 2005, and as such all liabilities for the aforementioned period were reversed.
During 2007 the Income Tax Act Cap. 73, was amended to exempt from tax, funds provided by
Government and used for the purposes of promoting the development of sectors of the economy. As a
result no corporation tax has been calculated for the current year.
(l) Management fees
Management fees are charged in accordance with the provisions of separate agreements between the
Company and the trustees or sponsors for the funds under management using contractual interest rates.
(m) Interest, investment income and evaluation fees
Interest, investment income and evaluation fees are recognised as income when earned and are based
on contractual terms and conditions.
(n) Pension – defined benefit scheme
The Company’s net obligation in respect of its defined-benefit pension scheme is calculated by
estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the
current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to determine the present value, and the fair value of
any plan assets is deducted from it. The discount rate used is the yield at balance sheet date on longterm government instruments that have maturity dates approximating the terms of the Company’s
pension obligations. The calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit
method.
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Enterprise Growth Fund Limited
ENTERPRISE
GROWTH FUND LIMITED
Notes
to Financial Statements
December
31, 2006
Notes to Financial
Statements
(Amounts in Barbados dollars)

December 31, 2007
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

2

Significant Accounting Policies, continued

(o) Operating leases
Payments made under operating leases are recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
term of the lease.

3

Cash and Short Term Deposits
Cash and short term deposits consist primarily of:

Cash on hand and at bank
Short term deposits

2007

2006

$

3,102,223
751,057

2,037,576
3,133,530

$

3,853,280

5,171,106

The applicable interest rates for the short term fixed deposits are 4.75% to 6.15% (2006 – 5% to 6.15%).

4

Accounts receivable and prepayments, net
Accounts receivable and prepayments, net are comprised of:

Accounts receivable, net
Prepayments

2007

2006

$

710,299
16,204

732,883
15,586

$

726,504

748,469

5. Loans Receivable, Net
The maximum loan size allowed is the greater of $1,500,000 and 15% of the total capitalization of the
Fund. The minimum loan size is limited to $100,000. Loans shall not be used to purchase land,
buildings or other real estate except where the buildings are to be used for productive purposes. All
loans shall be repaid within twelve (12) years or less.
The grace period (i.e. the period during which only interest payments are due and payable) for loans with
repayment periods of five (5) years or less will be limited to one year.
For loans with repayment periods in excess of five (5) years, but less than or equal to ten (10) years, the
grace period is limited to two (2) years. For loans with a repayment period in excess of ten (10) years the
grace period is limited to not more than three (3) years.
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Enterprise Growth Fund Limited
ENTERPRISE GROWTH FUND LIMITED
Notes to Financial Statements
December
31, 2006
Notes to Financial
Statements
(Amounts in Barbados dollars)

December 31, 2007
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

5. Loans Receivable, Net, Continued
Where a construction and/ or installation contract is for less than the stipulated grace period, such grace
period will be limited to the length of the construction and/ or installation contract.
Security is by way of first or second legal mortgage on property (ies) owned by the borrower(s).
The maturity structure of loans receivable, net, is: Under 1 year
1 – 5 years
Over 5 years

2007

2006

$

1,010,262
919,059
3,057,328

1,453
216,339
3,371,117

$

4,986,649

3,588,909

2007

2006

$

432,915
126,830

276,520
156,395

$

554,627

432,915

The movement in the loan loss provision during the year was as follows: -

Balance at January 1, 2007
Impairment loss recognised

Loans receivable carry interest rates of 7.5% per annum at the end of 2007 (2006 – 7.5% per annum).
However, net loans receivable also includes the amount of $128,476 (2006 - $NIL) relating to staff loans.
These amounts carry an interest rate of 5% per annum (2006 – 5% per annum).
6. Investments, net
Convertible bonds
Preferred shares

$

Less: Provision for investment losses:
Balance, beginning of year
Increase in provision

Net investments
Commercial deposits
Balances, end of year

$

ENTERPRISE GROWTH FUND LIMITED – ANNUAL REPORT 2007

2007

2006

1,764,682
3,623,408

1,723,744
3,224,530

5,388,090

4,948,274

1,215,353
467,720

870,353
345,000

1,683,073

1,215,353

3,705,017
152,229

3,732,921
427,609

3,857,246

4,160,530
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Enterprise Growth Fund Limited
ENTERPRISE
GROWTH FUND LIMITED
Notes
to Financial Statements
December
31, 2006
Notes to Financial
Statements
(Amounts in Barbados dollars)

December 31, 2007
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

6. Investments, Net, Continued
The Company has invested in convertible bonds. These bonds are redeemable and bear interest at
annual rates ranging from 8% to 10%. Any unpaid interest can be converted into shares of the borrower
at $1 per share at the option of the Company.
The Company has invested in preferred shares. These preferred shares are subject to an annual 8%
cumulative dividend. Any dividends due and unpaid can be converted into cumulative 8% preferred
shares at $1 per share at the option of the Company.
During the year, the Company disbursed $523,952 (2006:$Nil in new investments), and received
principal repayments totalling $101,122 on one investment (2006 - $518,045), representing the
divestment in shares of Transmed Inc. ($18,045). These shares were repurchased by the investee
company at $1.33 per share resulting in a gain of $5,955.
The Company did not exercise its option to convert either unpaid interest or dividends during the years
ended December 31, 2007 and 2006.
Included in investments is an amount of $152,229 (2006: $427,609) representing commercial deposits
with a maturity period of greater than 90 days.
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$
$

At December 31, 2007

At December 31, 2006

Net Book Value

$

$

Balance at December 31, 2006
Disposals
Depreciation

Balance at December 31, 2007

$

Balance at December 31, 2005
Disposals
Depreciation

Accumulated Depreciation

Balance at December 31, 2007

$

$

Balance at December 31, 2006

Additions
Disposals

$

Balance at December 31, 2005
Additions
Disposals

Cost

Property, Plant and Equipment

(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

December 31, 2007

Notes to Financial Statements

203,011

169,177

169,172

135,338
33,834

101,504
33,834

338,349

-

338,349

338,349
-

Leasehold
improvements

ENTERPRISE GROWTH FUND LIMITED

113,628

30,689

20,869

185,132

99,927

78,035

158,309
26,823

64,334
35,593

131,071
27,238

206,001

177,962

28,741
35,593

17,003
-

188,998

188,998
-

Furniture &
equipment

-

177,962

177,962
-

Vehicles

-

48,017

41,403

192,162

165,468
26,694

139,124
(6,825)
33,169

233,565

20,080

213,485

185,170
35,140
(6,825)

Computer
equipment

26,867

27,687

8,579

4,593
3,986

2,231
2,362

36,266

4,806
-

31,460

6,334
25,126
-

Office
equipment

169,879

210,960

-

-

-

210,960

41,081
-

169,879

77,888
91,991
-

Software

592,091

548,131

654,972

528,042
126,930

402,671
(6,825)
132,196

1,203,103

82,970
-

1,120,133

974,701
152,257
(6,825)

Total

Enterprise Growth Fund Limited

Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2006

(Amounts in Barbados dollars)
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Enterprise Growth Fund Limited
ENTERPRISE
GROWTH FUND LIMITED
Notes
to Financial Statements
Notes to Financial
Statements
December
31, 2006
(Amounts in Barbados dollars)

December 31, 2007

(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

8. Due to Shareholder
Amounts due to shareholder represent funds expensed on the behalf of the Company CRL Limited, a
related party. This amount is unsecured, interest free and has no fixed terms of repayment.

9. Taxation
2006

2007
The taxation charge comprises:
Current tax
Reversal of corporation tax for prior years
Reversal of prior year deferred tax
Deferred tax charge

Reconciliation of taxation charge
Taxation at 0% 2006: 25%) on income
before taxation of $547,640 (2006: $547,640)
Taxation effect of permanent differences
Reversal of deferred/current taxation in prior years

$

-

113,917
(151,532)
(9,920)
(57,977)

$

-

(105,512)

$

-

136,910
(80,970)
(161,452)

$

-

(105,512)

The deferred tax (asset) results from the difference between the tax and book values of the following
item:
2006

2007

36

Property, plant and equipment

$

(231,908)

(231,908)

Deferred tax at 25% (2006:25%)

$

(57,977)

(57,977)
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Enterprise Growth Fund Limited
ENTERPRISE
GROWTH FUND LIMITED
Notes
to Financial Statements
December
31, 2006
Notes to Financial
Statements
(Amounts in Barbados dollars)

December 31, 2007
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

10. Deferred Shareholder Grant

Balance – January 1

$

Amounts received in current year:
Interest earned on funds
Amounts disbursed during the year
Balance – December 31

2007

2006

349,215

343,280

11,471
(38,671)
$

322,015

9,959
(4,024)
349,215

The Company receives grants from the Government of Barbados to contribute to the financial expertise
of the borrowers. The Company assesses requests from its borrowers on an individual basis to
determine the allocation of the funds received.
11. Due from Related Party
Due from related party
This amount represents the amount due from the Energy Efficiency Audit and Retrofit Fund.
amount is unsecured, interest free and has no fixed terms of repayment.

The

12. Defined Benefit Pension Plan
The Company invested in a defined benefit pension plan during the year ended December 31, 2005. The
assets of the Plan are administered on behalf of the trustees by Sagicor Life Incorporated. The amounts
recognized in the balance sheet and the income statement are as follows:
2007
Balance Sheet
Present value of obligation
Fair value of plan assets

$

Unrecognised actuarial losses
Amount recognized in the balance sheet
Expense recognized in statement of income
Current service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets
Past service cost recognized

580,583
(569,463)

465,286
(398,647)

11,120
(36,884)

66,639
(66,366)
273

$

(25,764)

$

65,720
33,249
(33,884)
3,967

46,086
9,413
(15,680)
-

69,052

39,819

48,973

(2,578)

Expense recognized in statement of income
Actual return on plan assets

2006

$
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ENTERPRISE
GROWTH FUND LIMITED
Notes
to Financial Statements
December
31, 2006
Notes to Financial
Statements
(Amounts in Barbados dollars)

December 31, 2007
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

12. Defined Benefit Pension Plan, Continued

2006

2007

Movement in net liability recognized in the balance sheet
Net liability at the start of the year
Contributions
Amount recognized in the income statement

$

273
69,052
(95,089)

Net (asset) liability at the end of the year

$

(25,764)

$

398,647
33,884
121,842
15,090

49,354
15,680
352,670
(19,057)

$

569,463

398,647

Movement in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at start of year
Expected return on plan assets
Contributions paid – total
Actuarial gain (loss) on plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at end of year

86,985
(126,531)
39,819
273

Plan assets are equally distributed between equity investments and government bonds.
Principal actuarial assumptions
Discount rate at end of year
Expected return on plan assets at end of the year
Future salary increases
Future changes in National Insurance Scheme ceiling
Historical information

2007

Experience adjustments arising on plan liabilities
Experience adjustments arising on plan assets

$
$

12,940
15,090

6.50%
7.00%
5.50%
3.50%

6.50%
7.00%
5.50%
3.50%

2006

2005

(235,994)
(2,588)

4,374
245

13. Stated Capital

Class A Shares – 35,010 shares (2006:35,010) – no par value
Class B Shares – 70,415 shares (2006 – 70,415)
shares – no par value

$

$

2007

2006

3,501,000

3,501,000

7,041,491

7,041,491

10,542,491

10,542,491

The holders of Class “A” shares are entitled to receive dividends in respect of their shareholding and to
vote for the election of directors of the Company. Any holder of 10,000 or more Class “A” shares is
entitled to appoint one director.
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Notes to Financial
Statements
(Amounts in Barbados dollars)

December 31, 2007
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

13. Stated Capital, Continued
With regard to distribution or liquidation or winding-up of the Company, Class “A” shareholders shall
receive, before any distribution is made to the Class “B” shareholders, the stated capital of these shares
plus an amount equivalent to a 10% annual rate of return on their initial investment in the Company, after
the discharge of all liabilities of the Company.
Class “B” shares are reserved only for the Government of Barbados or entities owned by the
Government. Class “B” shares are not entitled to receive dividends or to elect the directors of the
Company. Upon the distribution, liquidation or winding-up of the Company, Class “B” shareholders shall
receive the stated capital of their shares plus an amount equivalent to a 7% compounded annual rate of
return on the initial investment in the Company after payment to Class “A” shareholders of their
entitlement as stated above.
During the year, NIL (2006 – 39,700) Class “B” shares were issued to the Government of Barbados for a
subscribed value of NIL (2006 - $3,970,000).
14. Commitments
At the balance sheet date, $764,726 (2006 - $800,000) of the cumulative funds authorised to be invested
in approved companies, had not yet been disbursed.
Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows:

Less than one year
1 – 5 years
Over 5 years

$

2007

2006

67,614
132,358
Nil

52,164
Nil
Nil

The Company leases an office under an operating lease. The lease runs for a period of four (4) years
expiring February 28, 2011, at which point an option to renew exists. At this time lease payments are
subject to a maximum of 10% increase and based on negotiations.
The Company also leases a motor vehicle under an operating lease. The lease term is for three (3)
years and expires on March 20, 2010, at which the option to renew exists.
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Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2007
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

15. Funds Under Management
Management fees recognized as income are as follows;

Agricultural Development Fund
Export, Promotion & Marketing Fund
Industrial Investment and Employment Fund
Innovation Fund
Small Hotels Investment Fund
Tourism Loan Fund

2007

2006

$

674,827
95,844
303,112
122,811
583,118
620,897

644,155
298,385
125,376
176,154
608,800

$

2,400,609

1,852,870

Amounts receivable related to management fees as at December 31, 2007 and 2006 were $674,025 and
$517,746 respectively.

16. Financial Risk Management
(a) Introduction and overview
The Company has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:
credit risk
liquidity risk
market risk
operational risk
This note presents information about the Company’s exposure to each of the above risks, the objectives,
policies and processes for measuring and managing risk and the management of capital.
Risk Management Framework
The Board of the Company has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the
Company’s risk management framework. Risk management policies are established to identify and
analyse the risks faced by the Company, in order to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to
monitor risks and the adherence to limits. These policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect
changes in market conditions, products and services offered.
(b) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet
its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Company’s loans and investment securities.
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(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

December 31, 2007
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16. Financial Risk Management, Continued
Loans receivable
The Company’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer. A loan provisioning policy has been implemented and all clients are categorized according to
their credit risk profile. These assessments are used in order to determine the extent of provisions to be
made for the financial year.
Management of credit risk
Management has responsibility for the management of credit risk in accordance with the Company’s
established policies.
Exposure to credit risk
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure.
exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:

The maximum

Carrying Amount
2007

2006

Held to maturity investments
Loans and receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

$

3,857,246
4,986,649
3,853,280

4,160,530
3,588,909
5,171,106

Total

$

12,697,175

12,920,545

Impaired loans and Securities
Impaired loans and securities are loans and securities for which management determines that it is
probable that it will be unable to collect all principal and interest due according to the contractual terms
of the loans/securities agreement(s).
Past due but not impaired loans
Loans and securities where contractual interest or principal payments are past due but management
believes that impairment is not appropriate on the basis of the level of security/collateral available and/or
the stage of collection of amounts owed.
Allowances for impairment
Management monitors the aging and credit quality of each loan facility extended through the monthly
preparation of a delinquency report. Allowances are established on a per loan basis as set in the
Company’s Loan Provisioning Policy.
Concentration of credit risk
Concentration of credit risk exists if a number of clients are engaged in similar activities or are located in
the same industry sector or have similar economic characteristics such that their ability to meet
contractual obligations would be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions.
Concentration of credit risk indicates the relative sensitivity of the Company’s performance to
developments affecting a particular industry or geographical location. Management does not believe
that the concentration is unusual or provides undue risks.
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16. Financial Risk Management, Continued
Impairment losses
The aging of accounts receivable at the reporting date was:
Gross
2007

Impairment
2007

Gross
2006

Impairment
2006

256,556

Nil

370,489

Nil

Past due 0 – 30 days

224,267

Nil

181,611

Nil

Past due 31 – 120 days

224,380

Nil

182,067

Nil

49,735

44,638

47,210

48,494

754,938

44,639

781,377

48,494

Not past due

$

More than one year
Total

$

The movement in the allowance for impairment during the year was as follows:

Balance at beginning of year

$

Bad debt recovered
Balance at end of year

2007

2006

48,494

48,494

(3,855)
$

44,639

48,494

Write-off Policy
The Company writes off a loan/security balance (and any related allowances for impairment) when it
determines that the loans/securities are uncollectible. This determination is reached after considering
information such as the occurrence of significant changes in the borrower’s/issuer’s financial position
such that the borrower/issuer can no longer pay the obligation, or that proceeds from collateral will not
be sufficient to pay back the entire exposure.
The Company holds collateral against loans in the form of mortgage debentures over property, bills of
sale and/or personal or government guarantees.
(c) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations from its financial
liabilities.
Management of Liquidity Risk
Management’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without
incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company’s reputation.
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16. Financial Risk Management, Continued
(d) Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and
equity prices will affect the Company’s income or the value of its holding of financial instruments. The
objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable
parameters, while optimizing the return on risk.
Market risk encompasses liquidity risk and price risk, both of which arise in the normal course of
business. Liquidity risk is the risk that the company may be unable to meet a financial commitment to a
customer or creditor when due. Price risk is the risk to earnings that arises from changes in interest
rates, commodity prices and their implied volatilities.
Management of market risks
Market risks are measured in accordance with established standards.
(e) Currency risk
The Company had no significant currency risk at the end of the financial year.
Capital Management Policy
The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain creditor and market confidence
and to sustain future development of the business. There were no changes in the Board’s approach to
capital management during the year.
Analysis of equity price risk
Equity price risk arises from available-for-sale equity securities held for meeting partially the unfunded
portion of the Company’s defined benefit obligations. Management monitors the mix of debt and equity
securities in its investment portfolio based on market expectations.
(f) Exposure to interest rate risk
The principal risk to which non-trading portfolios are exposed is the risk of loss from fluctuations in the
future cash flows or fair values of financial instruments because of a change in market interest rates.
Except as disclosed in Notes 3, 5, 6, 8 and 11, the Company does not have any exposure to interest rate
risk.
(g) Operational risk
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes, associated with
the Company’s processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors other than
credit, market and liquidity risks such as those from legal and regulatory requirements and generally
accepted standards of corporate behaviour. Operational risks arise from all of the Company’s
operations and are faced by all business entities.
The objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses and
damage to the Company’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control procedures that
restrict initiative and creativity.
The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address operational
risk is delegated to the management of the Company.
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16. Financial Risk Management, Continued
Financial income and expense
2007
Interest income on unimpaired held-to-maturity investments
Interest income on bank deposits

407,041
159,044

299,188
223,560

Financial income

566,085

522,748

Financial expenses

544,552

501,395

21,535

21,353

3,857,246
NIL

4,160,530
NIL

Net Finance Costs

$

2006

$

Investments
Non-current investment
Held-to-maturity investments
Available-for-sale investments

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the Balance
Sheet are as follows:
2007
Carrying Amount
Cash and short term deposits
Accounts receivable
Loans receivable, net
Held to maturity investments
Due from related party
Accounts payable
Due to shareholder
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$

3,853,280
726,355
4,986,649
3,857,246
28,750
(61,590)
(1,829,518)

2007
Fair Value

2006
Carrying Value

2006
Fair Value

3,853,280
726,355
4,986,649
3,857,246
28,750
(61,590)
(1,829,518)

5,171,106
748,469
3,588,909
4,160,530
57,500
(121,093)
(1,829,518)

5,171,106
748,469
3,588,909
4,160,530
57,500
(121,093)
(1,829,518)
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Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2006
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

December 31, 2007

(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

17. Fair value disclosure of financial instruments
The Company’s activity as a provider of venture capital is one which involves transactions, which are
speculative in nature. Financial instruments consist of cash and short term deposits, accounts
receivable, loans receivable, interest due on short term deposits, investments, accounts payable, due to
shareholder and due to related party.
Fair value
Fair value amounts represent the approximate values at which financial instruments could be exchanged
in current transactions between willing parties. There is no available trading market for these financial
instruments and therefore, it is not possible to determine independently the estimated fair values. The
fair values of financial instruments are considered to approximate their book values.

18. Key Management Personnel Compensation
Key management personnel compensation paid during the year was as follows:

Salaries and short term benefits

$

2007

2006

646,685

584,580

Key management personnel are entitled to post retirement benefits under the Company’s defined benefit
pension scheme which cannot be reasonably estimated at year end.
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Sugar Cane Club, Maynards, St. Peter
Sugar Cane Club, located in Maynards, St. Peter, is not situated on or near the beach, like most of the traditional hotel
plant. To ensure that visitors still enjoy a memorable experience while vacationing in Barbados, management realized
that it was essential for the aesthetics and ancillary services of the property to be significantly upgraded.
Using the resources of the Small Hotel Refurbishing Scheme, under the Small Hotel Investment Fund, the principals
undertook an extensive expansion and renovation of the property to at least a three star level. Guests now have
access to more visitor friendly accommodations and an expanded array of amenities.
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P.O. Box 690C
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Auditors' Report
To the Investment Committee of Small Hotels Investment Fund
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Small Hotels Investment Fund, which
comprise the balance sheet as at December 31, 2007, statement of loss, statement of changes in fund and
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory notes.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility includes: designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying
appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Small Hotels Investment Fund as at December 31, 2007, its financial performance and its cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Chartered Accountants
Bridgetown, Barbados
May 19, 2008
2
KPMG, a Barbados partnership, is a Barbados member firm of
KPMG International, a Swiss cooperative.
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SMALL HOTELS INVESTMENT FUND
Statement of Loss
For the year ended December 31, 2007
with comparative figures for December 31, 2006
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

Notes

2007

2006

1,699,569

1,703,102

972,392
877,518
765,816
10,046
2,960
1,986

974,055
710,245
290,403
22,676
198,611
1,334

2,630,718

2,197,324

Revenue
Interest Income

$

Expenses
Professional fees
Interest expense
Management fees
Advertising
Legal fees
Bank charges

5
6

Net loss

$

(931,149)

(494,222)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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SMALL HOTELS INVESTMENT FUND
Statement of Changes in Fund
For the year ended December 31, 2007
with comparative figures for December 31, 2006
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

Retained
Earnings/
(Deficit)

Total

3,759,920

130,297

3,890,217

Grants disbursed

(400,000)

-

(400,000)

Grants received

400,000

-

400,000

-

(494,222)

(494,222)

3,759,920

(363,925)

-

(931,149)

Note

Balances, December 31, 2005

Contribution

$

Net loss
Balances, December 31, 2006
Net loss
Balances, December 31, 2007

$

3,759,920

(1,295,074)

3,395,995
(931,149)
2,464,846

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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SMALL HOTELS INVESTMENT FUND
Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended December 31, 2007
with comparative figures for December 31, 2006
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

Notes
Operating Activities
Net loss

2007
$

2006

(931,149)

(494,222)

Adjustments for:
Interest income

(1,699,569)

(1,703,102)

Operating loss before working capital changes

(2,630,718)

(2,197,324)

(12,430,996)
(71,384)
(1,062)
2,107
877,518
1,838,208

(8,436,534)
(400,000)
(70,102)
(56,466)
710,245
1,611,009

(12,416,327)

(8,839,172)

Loans receivable
Grant payable
Withholding tax recoverable
Due by related party
Accounts payable
Interest payable
Interest received
Net cash (used in) operating activities
Financing Activities
Grants received
Grants disbursed

-

400,000
(400,000)

Net cash used in financing activities

-

-

Decrease in cash and short term deposits
Cash and short term deposits – beginning of year
Cash and short term deposits – end of year

$

(12,416,327)

(8,839,172)

18,466,654

27,305,826

6,050,327

18,466,654

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2007
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

1. Incorporation and Principal Activities
The Small Hotels Investment Fund (SHIF) is a $35.0 million Fund which began operations on May 27,
1999 in Barbados. SHIF is not a legal entity but functions as a segregated pool of funds. The Fund was
established by the Government of Barbados to assist small hotels with marketing, management,
procurement of joint services and refurbishment, in order to improve their revenue earning capacity and
operational efficiency. SHIF seeks to finance projects that clearly demonstrate that they will enhance the
financial viability and operational performance of the small hotels sector. The beneficiaries of SHIF are
restricted to the Small Hotels of Barbados Inc. (SHBI) and also its members whose properties comply
with the minimum standards established by the European Travel Trade.
The investment committee of SHIF resolved on November 4, 2002 to treat all advances to the SHBI as
of September 30, 2002 (previously loans) as grants and to cancel all prior related balances and interest
accrued. All other disbursed balances effective October 1, 2002 are treated as loans per Note 4.
The investment committee comprises five members. Two members represent the Enterprise Growth
Fund Limited, two members represent SHBI and one member represents the Ministry of Tourism and
International Transport. The Fund is managed by Enterprise Growth Fund Limited.
The financial statements were authorised for issue by the members on May 19, 2008.
2. Significant accounting policies
(a) Basis of preparation
The financial statements are prepared in Barbados dollars on the historic cost basis in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) promulgated by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB).
IFRS incorporate all International Accounting Standards (IAS) and
interpretations issued by its predecessor body, the International Accounting Standards Committee. The
preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets, liabilities, and contingent assets and
contingent liabilities at the balance sheet date and the income and expenses for the year then ended.
Actual amounts could differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.
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Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2007
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(b) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted:
A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are not yet effective for the
year ended December 31, 2007, and have not yet been applied in preparing these financial
statements, those which were considered relevant to the Fund are as follows:
Amendments to IAS 32 Financial instruments: Presentation and IAS 1, Presentation of Financial
Statements is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2009. The amendments
allow certain instruments that would normally be classified as liabilities to be classified as equity if
certain conditions are met. Where such instruments are reclassified, the entity is required to disclose
the amount, the timing and the reason for the reclassification.
(c) Cash and short term deposits
Cash and short term deposits comprise cash on hand, cash at bank and call and fixed deposits with
original maturity dates of 90 days or less.
(d) Loans receivable
Income from loans is recognised as it accrues. Loans are placed on a non-accrual basis when there is
reasonable doubt regarding the collectibility of principal and interest or when principal and/or interest
payments are ninety days or more in arrears. Upon classification of a loan to a non-accrual basis, any
previously accrued but unpaid interest thereon is reversed against the current period. Interest is only
accrued to the extent that unpaid interest is paid and total accrued interest does not exceed one hundred
and eighty (180) days. In subsequent periods, interest received on non-accrual loans is recorded as
income only if management has determined that the loans do not require specific provisions, otherwise
all amounts are credited to principal.
(e) Provision for loan losses
Specific provisions are made on an individual basis, where management is of the opinion that collection
is doubtful.
(f) Revenue recognition
Interest income is accounted for on an accrual basis.
(g) Deferred income
The income on the low interest loan from government will be recognized on a systematic basis using the
effective interest method over the period of the loan.
(h) Grants
Income from government grants is recognized on a systematic basis over the five year period of the
marketing plan for SHBI.
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Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2007
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(i) Impairment
The carrying amounts of the Fund’s assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An impairment loss is recognized whenever the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized in the income statement.
(j) Taxation
Small Hotels Investment Fund (SHIF) is not a legal entity, but functions as a segregated pool of funds
and therefore under the Income Tax Act, the tax treatment is similar to that of a non-incorporated entity.
In previous years the SHIF has applied to the Ministry of Finance and Economic Affairs for waiver of
corporation and withholding taxes and in 2006 the Ministry communicated to the SHIF that the waiver
was granted for 2003 to 2005.
The Ministry also informed the SHIF that a decision had been taken to amend the Income Tax Act Cap
73, to exempt from tax, funds provided by Government and used for purposes of promoting the
development of sectors of the economy. As a result no corporation tax has been calculated for the
current year.
3

Cash and short term deposits

Cash
Short term deposits

2007

2006

$

1,645,227
4,405,100

2,245,775
16,220,879

$

6,050,327

18,466,654

Short term deposits consist primarily of fixed deposits with interest rates at 4.75% to 5.75% (2006 –
5.25% to 5.75%) per annum.
4. Loans receivable
Effective October 1, 2002 members of the SHBI in good standing and who qualify under the by-laws and
regulations of the SHBI are eligible to receive loans. The maximum loan size allowed is the lower of
$5,250,000 and 15% of the initial capitalisation of the Fund. The minimum loan size shall be limited to
$50,000. Loans shall not be used to purchase land, buildings or other real estate except where such
real estate is to be used for the member’s productive purpose. The loans shall not be used to refinance
debt. All loans shall be repaid within a ten (10) year period which includes a five (5) year moratorium on
interest and principal payments. Security on loans is by way of first or second legal mortgage.
Loans include interest capitalized during the moratorium period.
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4. Loans receivable, continued
The loans receivable bear interest at 5% per annum (2006 – 5% per annum). The loans are subject to
the moratorium of interest and principal payments for a period of five (5) years.
The provision for doubtful debts at December 31, 2007 was $ nil (December 31, 2006 – $ nil).
5. Professional Fees
Professional fees include costs relating to the set up of the Small Hotels Refurbishment Scheme
programme of $940,224 (2006 - $961,893).

6. Management fees
Management fees are due to Enterprise Growth Fund Limited and are based on a contractual
percentage of the average gross assets of the fund outstanding. Included in Accounts Payable are
Management Fees Payable of $99,050 and $56,778 as at December 31, 2007 and 2006 respectively.
7. Commitments
At the balance sheet date, $5,396,153 (2006 - $13,503,960) of the funds authorised to be invested in
approved companies, have not yet been disbursed.
8. Loan payable
This amount which is payable to the Government of Barbados is unsecured and bears interest of 2.5%
per annum. A moratorium on both principal advanced for loan financing and interest accrued thereon
has been granted for a period of five (5) years, commencing September 1, 2006. Repayment of both
principal and interest shall commence on December 31, 2010 and is payable over the period of five (5)
years, in ten (10) equal, semi-annual instalments of $2,800,000 together with any interest accrued
th
st
thereon, on June 30 and December 31 of each year.
9. Grant payable
This amount is payable, in equal amounts of $400,000, to the SHBI Inc. in order to fund the marketing
plan over the five year period commencing April 2005.
10. Deferred income
Deferred income represents the difference between the loan received from the government and the fair
value of the liability.
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11.

Financial Risk Management

(a) Introduction and overview
The Fund has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:
credit risk
liquidity risk
market risk
operational risk
This note presents information about the Fund’s exposure to each of the above risks, the objectives,
policies and processes for measuring and managing risk and the management of capital.
Risk Management Framework
The Investment Committee has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Fund’s
risk management framework. Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the
risks faced by the Fund, in order to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and the
adherence to limits. These policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market
conditions, products and services offered.
(b) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet
its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Fund’s loan securities.
Loans receivable
The Fund’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer. A loan provisioning policy has been implemented and all clients are categorized according to
their credit risk profile. These assessments are used in order to determine the extent of provisions to be
made for the financial year.
Management of credit risk
Management has responsibility for the management of credit risk in accordance with the Fund’s
established policies.
Exposure to credit risk
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure.
exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:
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11. Financial Risk Management, Continued

Carrying Amount
2006

2007
Loans receivable
Cash and short term deposits

$

27,184,642
6,050,327

14,753,646
18,466,654

Total

$

33,234,969

33,220,300

Impaired loans and securities
Impaired loans and securities are loans and securities for which management determines that it is
probable that it will be unable to collect all principal and interest due according to the contractual terms
of the loans/securities agreement(s).
Past due but not impaired loans
Loans and securities where contractual interest or principal payments are past due but management
believes that impairment is not appropriate on the basis of the level of security/collateral available and/or
the stage of collection of amounts owed.
Allowances for impairment
Management monitors the aging and credit quality of each loan facility extended through the monthly
preparation of a delinquency report. Allowances are established on a per loan basis as set in the Fund’s
Loan Provisioning Policy.
Concentration of credit risk
Concentration of credit risk exists if a number of clients are engaged in similar activities or are located in
the same industry sector or have similar economic characteristics such that their ability to meet
contractual obligations would be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions.
Concentration of credit risk indicates the relative sensitivity of the Fund’s performance to developments
affecting a particular industry or geographical location.
Write-off policy
The Fund writes off a loan/security balance (and any related allowances for impairment) when it
determines that the loans/securities are uncollectible. This determination is reached after considering
information such as the occurrence of significant changes in the borrower’s/issuer’s financial position
such that the borrower/issuer can no longer pay the obligation, or that proceeds from collateral will not
be sufficient to pay back the entire exposure.
The Fund holds collateral against loans in the form of mortgage debentures over property, bills of sale
and/or personal or government guarantees.
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11. Financial Risk Management, Continued
(c) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations from its financial
liabilities.
Management of liquidity risk
Management’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without
incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Fund’s reputation.
(d) Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and
equity prices will affect the Fund’s income or the value of its holding of financial instruments. The
objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable
parameters, while optimizing the return on risk.
Market risk encompasses liquidity risk and price risk, both of which arise in the normal course of
business. Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund may be unable to meet a financial commitment to a
customer or creditor when due. Price risk is the risk to earnings that arises from changes in interest
rates, commodity prices and their implied volatilities.
Management of market risks
Market risks are measured in accordance with established standards.
(e) Currency risk
The Fund had no significant currency risk at the end of the financial year.
(f) Capital management policy
The Investment Committee’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain creditor and
market confidence and to sustain future development of the business. There were no changes in the
Investment Committee’s approach to capital management during the year.
(g) Exposure to interest rate risk
The principal risk to which non-trading portfolios are exposed is the risk of loss from fluctuations in the
future cash flows or fair values of financial instruments because of a change in market interest rates.
Except as disclosed in Notes 3 and 4 the Fund does not have any exposure to interest rate risk.
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11. Financial Risk Management, Continued
(h) Operational risk
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes, associated with
the Fund’s processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors other than
credit, market and liquidity risks such as those from legal and regulatory requirements and generally
accepted standards of corporate behaviour. Operational risks arise from all of the Fund’s operations and
are faced by all business entities.
The objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses and
damage to the Fund’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control procedures that
restrict initiative and creativity.
The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address operational
risk is delegated to the management of the Fund.

Financial income and expense
2006

2007
Interest income on unimpaired held-to-maturity investments
Interest income on bank deposits

$

Financial income
Financial expenses
Net finance costs
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1,022,851
676,718

466,838
1,236,264

1,699,569

1,703,102

$

1,699,569

1,703,102
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12. Fair value disclosure of financial instruments
Fair value of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the Balance
Sheet are as follows:
2007
Carrying Amount
Cash and short term deposits
Due by related party
Loans receivable
Withholding tax receivable
Interest receivable
Accounts payable
Interest payable
Grant payable
Deferred income
Loan payable

$

6,050,327
1,062
27,184,642
307,095
60,309
(117,493)
(1,821,096)
(1,200,000)
(7,973,426)
(20,026,574)

2007
Fair Value

2006
Carrying Value

2006
Fair Value

6,050,327
NIL
27,184,642
307,095
60,309
(117,493
(1,821,096)
(1,200,000)
(7,973,426)
(20,026,574)

18,466,654
NIL
14,753,646
235,711
198,948
(115,386)
(943,578)
(1,200,000)
(7,973,426)
(20,026,574)

18,466,654
NIL
14,753,646
235,711
198,948
(115,386)
(943,578)
(1,200,000)
(7,973,426)
(20,026,574)

The Fund’s activity as a provider of financing to assist small hotels with marketing, management,
procurement of joint services and refurbishment is one which involves transactions, which are
speculative in nature. Financial instruments consist of cash and short term deposits, loans receivable,
interest due on short term deposits and accounts payable.
Fair value
Fair value amounts represent the approximate values at which financial instruments could be exchanged
in current transactions between willing parties. There is no available trading market for these financial
instruments and therefore, it is not possible to determine independently the estimated fair values. The
fair values of financial instruments are considered to approximate their book values.
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Sunbay Hotel Resort, Maxwell, Christ Church
The directors of Felix Broome Inc. approached EGFL with a request in 2004 for finance from the Tourism Loan Fund to
renovate the former Shangri-La Hotel. The Sunbay Hotel Resort is currently open for business and has contributed an
additional one hundred and twelve rooms to the available hotel room stock in the island.
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KPMG
Hastings
Christ Church BB 15154
Barbados

Telephone (246) 427-5230
Fax
(246) 427-7123
E-mail
kpmgbds@caribsurf.com

P.O. Box 690C
Bridgetown, Barbados

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
To the Trustees
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Tourism Loan Fund, which comprise the
balance sheet as at December 31, 2007, statement of changes in general fund, statement of income and
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory notes.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility includes: designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and
applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require
that we comply with relevant ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting principles used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Tourism Loan Fund as at December 31, 2007, its financial performance and its cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Chartered Accountants
Bridgetown, Barbados
May 27, 2008

1
KPMG, a Barbados partnership, is a Barbados member firm of
KPMG International, a Swiss cooperative
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TOURISM LOAN FUND
Statement of Changes in General Fund
For the year ended December 31, 2007
with comparative figures for 2006
(Expressed in Barbados Dollars)

General
Fund
Balance at December 31, 2005

$

Net income for 2006
Balance at December 31, 2006

30,000,000
-

$

Net income for 2007
Balance at December 31, 2007

Accumulated
(Deficit)/
Earnings

30,000,000
-

$

30,000,000

(249,856)

Total
29,750,144

728,719

728,719

478,863

30,478,863

2,970,040

2,970,040

3,448,903

33,448,903

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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For the year ended December 31, 2007
with comparative figures for 2006
(Expressed in Barbados Dollars)

Note
Income
Interest on short term investments
Interest on loans

$

Total income
Expenses
Management fees
Professional fees
Advertising
Trustees fees
Bank charges
Loan losses recovered

4

Total expenses
Net income

$

2007

2006

573,001
1,366,971

669,772
792,605

1,939,972

1,462,377

714,031
20,920
8,343
4,800
38
(1,778,200)

700,120
6,960
21,495
4,800
283
-

(1,030,068)

733,658

2,970,040

728,719

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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TOURISM LOAN FUND
Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended December 31, 2007
with comparative figures for 2006
(Expressed in Barbados Dollars)

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income
Adjustments for:
Provision for loan losses
Interest income
Interest received

$

2007

2006

2,970,040

728,719

(1,778,200)
(1,939,972)
1,201,774

Operating profit before working capital changes
(Decrease) increase in accounts payable
Net cash from operating activities

(1,462,377)
1,615,597

453,642
(1,781)

881,939
10,842

451,861

892,781

Cash flows from investing activities
(Purchase) sale of short term investments – net
Loans advanced
Loans repaid

(1,773,823)
(141,557)
602,869

4,552,673
(7,384,841)
1,899,117

Net cash used in investing activities

(1,312,511)

(933,051)

(860,650)

(40,270)

Decrease in cash during the year
Cash at beginning of year
Cash at end of year

$

1,480,279

1,520,549

619,629

1,480,279

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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1.

Background
The Tourism Loan Fund (“the Fund”) was established pursuant to:
(i)

a Trust Deed dated January 26, 2001 between the Central Bank of Barbados and the Trustees
and;

(ii)

a Management Agreement dated January 26, 2001 between the Trustees and Enterprise
Growth Fund.

Under the terms of the Trust Deed, the Central Bank of Barbados agreed to transfer $30 million to the
Trustees for the purpose of establishing the Tourism Loan Fund. The purpose of the Fund is to
increase the level of capital available in the form of loan financing to small and medium-sized hotels
and attractions operating in the tourism sector.
These financial statements were approved by the Trustees of the Fund on May 27, 2008.
2.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(a) Basis of preparation
The financial statements are prepared in Barbados dollars on the historic cost basis in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) promulgated by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB). IFRS incorporate all International Accounting Standards (IAS) and
interpretations issued by its predecessor body, the International Accounting Standards Committee.
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, and contingent
assets and contingent liabilities at the balance sheet date and the income and expenses for the year
then ended. Actual amounts could differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

(b)

Revenue recognition
Interest revenue is recognized on the accrual basis. Under the terms of the loan agreements, interest
earned on a loan during the period of moratorium is capitalized to the loan principal.

(c)

Short term investments
Short-term investments comprising term deposits are categorized as held to maturity and are carried
at cost.

(d)

Provision for loan losses
Provision for loan losses comprises specific provisions. Specific provisions are made on an individual
basis, where management is of the opinion that collection is doubtful.
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Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2007
(Expressed in Barbados Dollars)

2.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(e)

Impairment
The carrying amounts of the Fund’s assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. For intangible assets that are not yet available for use, the recoverable amount is
estimated at each balance sheet date. An impairment loss is recognized whenever the carrying
amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are
recognized in the income statement.

3.

Short Term Investments
These include term deposits with maturity periods ranging from 3 to 6 months. At the balance sheet
date the effective interest rates ranged between 5.10% and 5.25% per annum (2006: 5.25% and 5.8%
per annum).

4.

Loans Receivable
The Fund’s loans are categorized as originating loans and are carried at amortized cost. These loans
are secured by mortgage debentures and personal guarantees, and are repayable between eight to
eleven years. Interest rates were at 7.5% at the end of 2007 (2006 -5.5% to 7.5%).
A loan is considered to be impaired when principal and interest are past due ninety days or more or if
there is objective evidence that the Fund will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the
contractual terms of the loan. The amount of the provision is the difference between the carrying
amount and the recoverable amount, being the present value of expected cash flows, including
amounts recoverable from guarantees and collateral, discounted based on the interest rate at
inception of the loan.
When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related allowance and subsequent recoveries
are credited to the provision for loan losses in the statement of income. The Fund Manager is entitled
to receive an incentive payment when the Fund recovers any principal and interest in respect of any
loan which may be classified as uncollectible and/or may have been written off the books of the Fund.
Such incentive payment shall be three percent (3%) on the net amounts recovered.
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4.

Loans Receivable (continued)
At December 31, 2007 the maturity profile of loans is as follows:
Up to
1 yr
Business Sector

$

-

Years to maturity
One to
Over
5 yrs
5 Yrs
6,913,799

13,196,967

Total
2007

Total
2006

20,110,766 20,572,078

Less allowance for loan losses

-

(1,778,200)

$ 20,110,766 18,793,878
As at the balance sheet date, interest not recognized in respect of delinquent loans amounted to
$1,260,187(2006: $663,523).
The amounts previously provided for have now been recovered and the allowance for loan losses of
$1,778,200 at December 31, 2006 has been written back during the current financial year.
5.

Corporation Tax
Corporation tax has not been provided for in these financial statements since the Fund is exempt from
the payment of corporation tax in accordance with Section 56 of the Central Bank of Barbados Act,
Cap. 323C.

6.

Capital Contribution

Capital contribution
7.

$

2007

2006

30,000,000

30,000,000

Related Party Transactions
The Fund is managed by Enterprise Growth Fund Limited. Management fees charged for the year
2007 amounted to $620,897 (2006: $608,800). Amounts included in accounts payable and accrued
liabilities for outstanding management fees at year end were $179,157 (2006: $196,964).

8.

Commitments
Loan commitments in respect of undisbursed loans at December 31, 2007 amounted to $1,551,443
(2006: $6,120,116).
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December 31, 2007
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

9.

Financial Risk Management

(a) Introduction and overview
The Fund has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:
credit risk
liquidity risk
market risk
operational risk
This note presents information about the Fund’s exposure to each of the above risks, the objectives,
policies and processes for measuring and managing risk and the management of capital.
Risk Management Framework
The Trustees of the Fund have overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Fund’s
risk management framework. Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the
risks faced by the Fund, in order to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and the
adherence to limits. These policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market
conditions, products and services offered.
(b) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet
its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Fund’s loan securities.
Loans receivable
The Fund’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer. A loan provisioning policy has been implemented and all clients are categorized according to
their credit risk profile. These assessments are used in order to determine the extent of provisions to be
made for the financial year.
Management of credit risk
Management has responsibility for the management of credit risk in accordance with the Fund’s
established policies.
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9. Financial Risk Management, Continued
Exposure to credit risk
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure.
exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:

The maximum

Carrying Amount
2007

2006

Loans receivable
Cash and short term investments

$

20,110,766
12,163,348

18,793,878
10,389,525

Total

$

32,274,114

29,183,403

Impaired loans and Securities
Impaired loans and securities are loans and securities for which management determines that it is
probable that it will be unable to collect all principal and interest due according to the contractual terms
of the loans/securities agreement(s).
Past due but not impaired loans
Loans and securities where contractual interest or principal payments are past due but management
believes that impairment is not appropriate on the basis of the level of security/collateral available and/or
the stage of collection of amounts owed.
Allowances for impairment
Management monitors the aging and credit quality of each loan facility extended through the monthly
preparation of a delinquency report. Allowances are established on a per loan basis as set in the Fund’s
Loan Provisioning Policy.
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TOURISM LOAN FUND
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2007
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

9. Financial Risk Management, Continued
Concentration of Credit Risk
Concentration of credit risk exists if a number of clients are engaged in similar activities or are located in
the same industry sector or have similar economic characteristics such that their ability to meet
contractual obligations would be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions.
Concentration of credit risk indicates the relative sensitivity of the Fund’s performance to developments
affecting a particular industry or geographical location.
Write-off Policy
The Fund writes off a loan/security balance (and any related allowances for impairment) when it
determines that the loans/securities are uncollectible. This determination is reached after considering
information such as the occurrence of significant changes in the borrower’s/issuer’s financial position
such that the borrower/issuer can no longer pay the obligation, or that proceeds from collateral will not
be sufficient to pay back the entire exposure.
The Fund holds collateral against loans in the form of mortgage debentures over property, bills of sale
and/or personal or government guarantees.
(c) Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations from its financial
liabilities.
Management of Liquidity Risk
Management’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without
incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Fund’s reputation.
(d) Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and
equity prices will affect the Fund’s income or the value of its holding of financial instruments. The
objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable
parameters, while optimizing the return on risk.
Market risk encompasses liquidity risk and price risk, both of which arise in the normal course of
business. Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund may be unable to meet a financial commitment to a
customer or creditor when due. Price risk is the risk to earnings that arises from changes in interest
rates, commodity prices and their implied volatilities.
Management of Market Risks
Market risks are measured in accordance with established standards.
(e) Currency Risk
The Fund had no significant currency risk at the end of the financial year.
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TOURISM LOAN FUND
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2007
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

9. Financial Risk Management, Continued
(f) Capital Management Policy
The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain creditor and market confidence
and to sustain future development of the business. There were no changes in the Board’s approach to
capital management during the year.
(g) Exposure to Interest Rate Risk
The principal risk to which non-trading portfolios are exposed is the risk of loss from fluctuations in the
future cash flows or fair values of financial instruments because of a change in market interest rates.
Except as disclosed in Notes 3 and 4 the Fund does not have any exposure to interest rate risk.
(h) Operational Risk
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes, associated with
the Fund’s processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors other than
credit, market and liquidity risks such as those from legal and regulatory requirements and generally
accepted standards of corporate behaviour. Operational risks arise from all of the Fund’s operations and
are faced by all business entities.
The objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses and
damage to the Fund’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control procedures that
restrict initiative and creativity.
The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address operational
risk is delegated to the management of the Fund.
Financial income and expense
2006

2007
Interest income on unimpaired held-to-maturity investments
Interest income on bank deposits

$

Financial income
Financial expenses
Total income
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$

573,001
1,366,971

669,772
792,605

1,939,972
-

1,462,377
-

1,939,972

1,462,377
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TOURISM LOAN FUND
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2007
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

10. Fair value disclosure of financial instruments
Fair value of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the Balance
Sheet are as follows:

Cash
Short term investments
Loans receivable, net
Interest receivable
Accounts payable

$

2007
Carrying Amount

2007
Fair Value

2006
Carrying Value

2006
Fair Value

619,629
12,163,348
20,110,766
758,410
(203,250)

619,629
12,163,348
20,110,766
758,410
(203,250)

1,480,279
10,389,525
18,793,878
20,212
(205,031)

1,480,279
10,389,525
18,793,878
20,212
(205,031)

The Fund’s activity as a provider of loan financing to small and medium-sized hotels and attractions
operating in the tourism sector is one which involves transactions, which are speculative in nature.
Financial instruments consist of cash and short term deposits, loans receivable (net), interest due on
short term deposits and accounts payable.
Fair Value
Fair value amounts represent the approximate values at which financial instruments could be exchanged
in current transactions between willing parties. There is no available trading market for these financial
instruments and therefore, it is not possible to determine independently the estimated fair values. The
fair values of financial instruments are considered to approximate their book values.
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SECTION 2

Auditors’ Report to the
TRUSTEES OF TOURISM LOAN FUND
December 31, 2007
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KPMG
Hastings
Christ Church BB 15154
Barbados

Telephone (246) 427-5230
Fax
(246) 427-7123
E-mail
kpmgbds@caribsurf.com

P.O. Box 690C
Bridgetown, Barbados

Auditors' Report to the Trustees of the Tourism Loan Fund
In connection with our examination of the financial statements of the Tourism Loan Fund for the year
ended December 31, 2007 we ascertained that the relevant guidelines of the Policy and Operations
Statement have been complied with. Our examination was made in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing and included such tests of accounting and other records, as we considered
necessary in the circumstances.
We report that in our opinion, for the year ended December 31, 2007:
(1)

the Manager of the Tourism Loan Fund in respect of the Policy and Operations Statement:
(A)

has complied with the following guidelines:
Section 2

Eligibility and Nature of Projects

Section 3 (1)

Loan Size

Section 3 (2)

Loan Repayment Periods

Section 3 (3)

Moratoria

Section 3 (4)

Interest Rates

Section 3 (5)

Loan Repayments

Section 3 (6)

Refinancing

Section 3 (7)

Loan Restrictions

Section 4

Evaluation and Approval Procedures
The Investment Committee fulfills the role of the Portfolio
Investment Committee as stipulated in Section 7

Section 5

Collateral and Security for Loans

Section 6

Loan Write-Offs and Recovery Procedures
There were no provisions made during the year ended
December 31, 2007.

Section 7

Financial and Operational Policies

Section 8 (ii)

The Manager of the Tourism Loan Fund shall provide to the
Trustees summary quarterly reports and semi-annual
reviews of all loans in the Fund’s portfolio.

1
KPMG, a Barbados partnership, is a Barbados member firm of
KPMG International, a Swiss cooperative

(2)

(B)

has not complied with the following guidelines:

Section 8 (i)

Management and Reporting in that:
The audited financial statements were not submitted within
one hundred and twenty days following the year-end.

During the course of our examination, the following guidelines were not applicable:
Section 9

Relations with the Central Bank of Barbados
A request was not made by the Central Bank of Barbados
for relevant information, documentation, and accounting
records pertaining to loans in the Tourism Loan Fund’s
portfolio.

Section 10

Conflicts of Interest
There were no loans granted to enterprises in which the
Enterprise Growth Fund Limited, as manager, or its directors
or officers had an interest. As such there was no need for
disclosure in the presentation of a loan proposal.

Chartered Accountants
Bridgetown, Barbados
May 27, 2008
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Agricultural Development Fund
Financial Statements
December 31, 2007
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

Hydrogrow Farms Inc., Strong Hope, St. Thomas
Many have bemoaned the absence of significant investment in the production of vegetables in the island. While the
performance of this sub-sector has certainly given many a farmer reason to pause, the principals of Hydrogrow Farms Inc.
simply saw the challenge as an opportunity to expand the use of hydroponics technology within this field.
Wholesalers, supermarkets, hotels and individuals now have a significant local supplier of fresh vegetables, many of which
were previously imported in large quantities. In facilitating this project, the Agricultural Development Fund played a
significant part in re-tooling this vital sector while the investors have restored some confidence in this sector’s potential.
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Management Committee (appointed March 15, 2008)
Mr. Ian Collymore – Chairman
Mr. Lionel Jordan – Deputy Chairman
Mr. Anthony Sobers – Member
A representative of Enterprise Growth Fund Limited – Member
A representative of the Barbados Agricultural Society – Member
Permanent Secretary – Ministry of Finance or his nominee – Member
Permanent Secretary – Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Development or his nominee – Member
Management Committee (terminated March 14, 2008)
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Mr. David Norgrove – Deputy Chairman
Mr. Anthony Sobers – Member
Mr. James Paul – Member
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Mrs. Nancy Headley – Member, representing the Ministry of Finance
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Fund Manager
Enterprise Growth Fund Limited
Secretary
Mrs. Linda Harris
Bankers
RBTT Bank Barbados Ltd.
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St. Michael
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Broad Street
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Clico Corporate Centre
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Auditors
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Agricultural Development Fund
Statement of Changes in Funds
Year ended December 31, 2007
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
Development
Fund
$
Balance at January 1, 2006

33,025,734

Grants disbursed (Note 9)

(8,260,922)

Net income

-

Retained
Earnings
$
929,419
-

Total
$
33,955,153
(8,260,922)

530,374

530,374

1,459,793

26,224,605

Balance at December 31, 2006

24,764,812

Grants received

13,000,000

-

13,000,000

(13,367,853)

-

(13,367,853)

Grants disbursed (Note 9)
Net loss

-

Balance at December 31, 2007

24,396,959
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(716,192)
743,601

(716,192)
25,140,560
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Agricultural Development Fund
Statement of Loss
Year ended December 31, 2007
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
2007
$
Revenue
Interest on deposits
Interest on loans

Expenses
Advertising and marketing
Bank charges
Clerical services
Management fees
Professional and consultancy fees
Impairment losses

Net income (loss)
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2006
$

487,378
1,110,576

642,697
731,389

1,597,954

1,374,085

20,347
1,583
776,051
76,059
1,440,106

43,104
6,188
41,797
740,257
12,365
-

2,314,146

843,711

(716,192)
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530,374

Agricultural Development Fund
Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended December 31, 2007
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
2007
$
Cash flows from operating activities
Net income (loss)
Adjustment for:
Impairment losses

(716,192)

2006
$

530,374

1,440,106

-

Operating profit before working capital changes
Decrease (increase) in interest receivable
Loans disbursed
Loans repaid
Decrease in revolving line of credit
Purchase of available-for-sale investment
Decrease in accounts payable
Increase (decrease) in due from related party
(Decrease) increase in due to related parties

723,914
35,614
(5,778,013)
1,560,065
500,000
3,000
(1,019)

530,374
(40,226)
(3,122,986)
1,118,101
(1,459,150)
(5,000)
(48,539)
16,750

Cash used in operations
Withholding tax received

(2,956,440)
107,516

(3,010,676)
1,800

Net cash from operating activities

(2,848,924)

(3,008,876)

13,000,000
(13,367,853)

(8,260,922)

(367,853)

(8,260,922)

(3,216,777)

(11,269,798)

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of the year

7,460,900

3,808,898

Cash and cash equivalents- end of the year

4,244,123

7,460,900

Cash and cash equivalents comprise:
Cash
Term deposits (Note 3)

283,585
3,391,403

506,079
6,954,821

3,674,988

7,460,900

Cash flows from financing activities
Grants received
Grants disbursed
Net cash used in financing activities
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
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Agricultural Development Fund
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2007
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
1.

Establishment and purpose
The Agricultural Development Fund was established in Barbados by an Act of Parliament on
December 12, 2001. Financial resources, as determined by the Minister of Agriculture, are
paid into this Fund. These resources are used to finance projects and programmes that are
designed for the improved development of agriculture in Barbados.
The Fund’s operations commenced on March 28, 2002.

2.

Significant accounting policies
Basis of preparation
These financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Board.
Basis of measurement
The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except that the following
assets are stated at their fair value: financial instruments at fair value through profit and loss
and financial instruments classified as available-for-sale.
Use of estimates and judgements
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with International Financial Reporting
Standards requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could
differ from those estimates.
Foreign currencies
Transactions arising during the year involving foreign currencies are converted at the rates
prevailing on the dates the transactions occurred. Differences arising from fluctuations in
exchange rates are included in the statement of income.
Taxation
The Fund applied to the Minister of Finance and Economic Affairs by letter dated February
06, 2004 and was granted an exemption from corporation tax with effect from income year
2002.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are short term highly liquid investments which are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash without notice and which are within three (3)
months of maturity when acquired. These are shown at cost.
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Agricultural Development Fund
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2007
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
2.

Significant accounting policies …continued
Financial instruments
i)

Classification
Originated loans are loans created by the Fund providing money to a debtor other
than those created with the intention of short-term profit taking. Originated loans
comprise loan to customers.
Held-to-maturity assets are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and
fixed maturity that the Fund has the intent and ability to hold to maturity.
Available-for-sale assets are financial assets that are not financial assets at fair value
through profit and loss, originated by the Fund, or held-to-maturity. Available-forsale instruments include certain equity investments.

ii)

Recognition
The Fund recognises financial assets on the date it commits to purchasing the assets
or originating loans. From this date, any gains and losses arising from changes in fair
value of assets are recognised.

iii)

Measurement
Financials instruments are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition all available-for-sale assets are measured at fair
value based on their quoted market price at the balance sheet date without any
deduction for transaction costs. Where the instrument is not actively traded or
quoted on recognised exchanges, fair value is determined using discounted cash flow
analysis. Where discounted cash flow techniques are used, estimated future cash
flows are based on management’s best estimates and the discount rate is a market
related rate at the balance sheet date for an instrument with similar terms and
conditions.
Any available-for-sale asset that does not have a quoted market price in an active
market and where fair value cannot be reliably measured, is stated at cost, including
transaction costs less impairment losses.
Gains and losses arising from the change in fair value of available-for-sale
investments subsequent to initial recognition are accounted for as changes in the
investment revaluation reserve.
All originated loans and held-to-maturity assets are measured at amortised costs less
impairment losses. Amortised cost is calculated on the effective interest rate method.
Premiums and discounts including initial transaction costs are included in the carrying
amount of the related instrument and amortised based on the effective interest rate
of the instrument.
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Agricultural Development Fund
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2007
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
2.

Significant accounting policies …continued
Financial instruments…continued
Impairment
The carrying amounts of the Fund’s assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date to
determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.
An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of loss.
When there is objective evidence that an available-for-sale financial asset is impaired, the
cumulative loss that had been recognised in reserves is recognised in the statement of loss
even though the financial asset has not been derecognised. The amount of the cumulative
loss is the difference between the acquisition cost and current fair value, less any impairment
loss on that financial asset previously recognised in the statement of loss.
An originated loan is considered to be impaired when principal and interest are past due
ninety days or more or if there is objective evidence that the fund will not be able to collect
all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the loan.
i)

Calculation of recoverable amount
The recoverable amount of the Fund’s originating loans is calculated as the present
value of estimated future cash flows, including amounts recoverable from guarantees
and collateral, discounted at the original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective
interest rate computed at the initial recognition of these financial assets)
The recoverable amount of other assets is the greater of their net selling price and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessment of time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

ii)

Reversals of impairment
An impairment loss in respect of a loan carried at amortised cost is reversed if the
subsequent increase in recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment loss was recognised.
In respect of other assets, an impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.
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Agricultural Development Fund
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2007
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
2.

Significant accounting policies …continued
Revenue recognition
Loans and investments
Interest income is accounted for on the accrual basis for investments, and all other loans
other than non-accrual loans, using the effective interest yield method. When a loan is
classified as non-accrual, accrued but uncollected interest is reversed against income of the
current period, unless the loan, including accrued interest, is fully secured and in the process
of collection. Thereafter, interest income is recognised only after the loan reverts to
performing status.
New Standards and interpretations not yet adopted
At the date of authorisation of the financial statements there were new standards,
amendments to standards and interpretations which were in issue but were not yet effective
for the year ended December 31, 2007, and have not been applied in preparing these
financial statements. These are as follows:
IFRS 8 Operating Segments supersedes IAS 14 Segment Reporting. This
Standard becomes mandatory to the Fund’s 2010 financial statements and
requires extensive quantitative disclosures pertaining to the performance and
management of business segment as internally identified and managed.
IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements addresses the accounting
requirements for public-to-private service concession arrangements in private
sector entities. IFRIC 12 will become mandatory for the Fund’s 2008 financial
statements. It is not expected to have any impact on the financial
statements.
Amendments to the IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation, and IAS 1
Presentation of Financial Statements are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after January 01, 2009. The amendments allow certain
instruments that would normally be classified as liabilities to be classified as
equity if certain conditions are met. Where such instruments are reclassified,
the entity is required to disclose the amount, the timing and the reason for
the reclassification. The amendments are not expected to have a material
impact on the financial statements.
IAS 23 (Amendment), Borrowing costs (effective from January 1, 2009). The
amendment requires an entity to capitalise borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying
asset (one that takes a substantial period of time to get ready for use or
sale) as part of the cost of that asset. The option of immediately expensing
those borrowing costs will be removed. The Fund does not have any such
assets at present.
Grants
The Fund provides grants to the agricultural sector to finance projects which contribute to
the long-term development and sustainability of agriculture in Barbados. Such grants, when
disbursed, are recognised in the accounts as a reduction in the equity of the Fund.
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Agricultural Development Fund
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2007
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
3.

Cash equivalents
These are time deposits placed with financial institutions.
Financial Institution
2007

Date of Maturity

Interest Rate

Principal ($)

Clico Mortgage & Finance Corp.

January 1, 2008

6.00%

3,391,403

January 1, 2007
January 24, 2007
February 9, 2007

6.00%
4.95%
5.00%

3,198,445
2,669,802
1,086,574

2006
Clico Mortgage & Finance Corp.
Bank of Butterfield
Bank of Butterfield

6,954,821
4.

Related party transactions
The Enterprise Growth Fund Limited serves as manager of, and provides disbursement and
administrative assistance to, the Fund. As a result of providing such services, the Enterprise
Growth Fund Limited receives a management fee based on the value of the gross assets of
the Fund, calculated quarterly and payable in arrears, at a rate of 0.5%.
Charges of $776,051 (2006 - $740,257) were incurred during the year in respect of
management fees payable to the Enterprise Growth Fund Limited. At December 31, 2007,
the related party balances were as follows:
2007
2006
$
$
Due to Enterprise Growth Fund Limited
Due to Tourism Loan Fund
Due to Small Hotels Investment Fund

Due from Disaster Relief Revolving Fund
Due from Enterprise Growth Fund Limited

(249,486)
(1,062)

“Fostering Growth”

(4,819)
-

(250,548)

(251,567)

74,564

74,564

-

3,000

74,564

77,564

These balances are unsecured, interest-free and are repayable on demand.
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Agricultural Development Fund
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2007
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
5.

Available-for-sale investment
The Fund has committed to invest $4,000,000 in 2% cumulative, redeemable, convertible
Class A preferred shares at $1 per share in Exclusive Cottons of the Caribbean Inc. (ECCI) to
be redeemed no later than March 31, 2015 at a price not greater than $3.32 per share. The
Fund has reserved the right to convert any dividends not paid within twenty-four calendar
months of their due date into additional Class A preferred shares at a price of $1.00 per
share. At the end of the financial year, the Fund had invested $4,000,000 in ECCI and
4,000,000 shares had been issued.
2007
$
Original cost
Less: Allowance for impairment

6.

4,000,000
(852,150)

4,000,000
-

3,147,850

4,000,000

Revolving line of credit
The revolving line of credit at year end comprised:
Interest rate
2007
2006
%
%
Exclusive Cottons of the Caribbean Inc.
Less: Provision for credit loss

7.

2006
$

5.5%

N/A

Outstanding balance
2007
2006
$
$
504,136
(504,136)

500,000
-

-

500,000

Loans receivable
The loans at year end comprised:

1 to 5 years
1 to 5 years
1 to 5 years
Over 5 years and up to 10 years
Over 10 years and up to 15 years

Interest rate
2007
2006
%
%
3.0
6.0-6.5
7.0
6.0-6.5
6.0-6.5

3.0
6.0-6.5
7.0
6.0-6.5
6.0-6.5

Less: Provision for loan losses
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Outstanding balances
2007
2006
$
$
290,252
2,343,146
79,791
12,466,696
3,165,759

298,449
1,899,218
37,928
9,267,680
2,559,421

18,345,644
(165,685)

14,062,696
(81,865)

18,179,959

13,980,831
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Agricultural Development Fund
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2007
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
8.

Taxation
Balance Sheet:
Withholding taxes refundable – year of income 2004
Withholding taxes refundable – year of income 2003
Withholding taxes refundable – year of income 2002

2007
$

2006
$

22,714
-

5,562
39,322
85,346

22,714

130,230

Exemption From Corporation and Withholding taxes
The Fund applied to the Minister of Finance and Economic Affairs (“the Minister”) on
February 06, 2004 for a waiver of the payment of withholding and corporation taxes. On
June 24, 2005 the Minister, under the Duties, Taxes & Other Payments (Exemption) Act, Cap
67B, granted the Fund:

9.

a)

A refund of withholding tax paid under the Income Tax Act for income years 2002, 2003
and 2004;

b)

An exemption, effective January 1, 2005, from the payment of withholding tax payable
under the Income Tax Act;

c)

An exemption, effective income year 2002, from the payment of corporation tax under
the Income Tax Act.

Grants disbursed
During the year, the following grants were disbursed:

Barbados Agricultural Development and
Marketing Corporation - 1
Barbados Agricultural Management Co. Ltd
Barbados Agricultural Society
Barbados Cotton Industry
Ministry of Agriculture & Rural Development
Southern Meats Inc.
10.

Commitments

2007
$

2006
$

3,038,152
9,181,629
305,813
80,577
761,682

1,213,851
5,779,545
100,448
14,358
1,152,720

13,367,853

8,260,922

2007
$

2006
$

444,785
1,274,020

4,417,616
1,459,150
4,667,984

At the year end, the following commitments were outstanding:

Loans
Equity investment
Grants

1,578,880
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9,085,600

Agricultural Development Fund
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2007
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
11.

Financial risk management
a)

Introduction and overview
The Fund has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:
credit risk
liquidity risk
market risk
operational risk
This note presents information about the Fund’s exposure to each of the above risks,
the objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk and the
management of capital.
Risk management framework
The Management Committee has overall responsibility for the establishment and
oversight of the Fund’s risk management framework.
The Fund’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks
faced by the Fund, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks
and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed
regularly to reflect changes in market conditions, products and services offered.

b)

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a customer or counterparty to a financial
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the
Fund’s loans and investment securities.
Management of credit risk
The Management Committee has delegated responsibility for the management of
credit risk to the Enterprise Growth Fund Limited, a related party.
Impaired loans and securities
Impaired loans and securities are loans and securities for which the Fund determines
that it is probable that it will be unable to collect all principal and interest due
according to the contractual terms of the loans/securities agreement(s).
Past due but not impaired loans
Loans and securities where contractual interest or principal payments are past due
but the Fund believes that impairment is not appropriate on the basis of the level of
security/collateral available and/or the stage of collection of amounts owed.
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Agricultural Development Fund
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2007
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
11.

Financial risk management …continued
Credit risk…continued
Allowances for impairment
The Fund monitors the aging and credit quality of each loan facility extended.
Allowances are established on a per loan basis as set in the Fund’s credit policy.
Write off policy
The Fund writes off a loan/security balance (and any related allowances for
impairment) when it determines that the loans/securities are uncollectible. This
determination is reached after considering information such as the occurrence of
significant changes in the borrower’s/issuer’s financial position such that the
borrower/issuer can no longer pay the obligation, or that proceeds from collateral will
not be sufficient to pay back the entire exposure.
The Fund holds collateral against loans in the form of mortgage debentures over
property, bills of sale and/or personal or government guarantees.
c)

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations
from its financial liabilities.
Management of liquidity risk
The Fund’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible that it will
always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal
and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to
the Fund’s reputation.
Management of liquidity at the Fund is the responsibility of the Enterprise Growth
Fund Limited, a related party.

d)

Market risk
Market risk encompasses liquidity risk and price risk, both of which arise in the
normal course of business. Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund may be unable to
meet a financial commitment to a customer or creditor when due. Price risk is the
risk to earnings that arises from changes in interest rates, commodity prices and
their implied volatilities.
Management of market risks
Market risks are measured in accordance with established standards.
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Agricultural Development Fund
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2007
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
11.

Financial risk management …continued
e)

Exposure to interest rate risk
The principal risk to which non-trading portfolios are exposed is the risk of loss from
fluctuations in the future cash flows or fair values of financial instruments because of
a change in market interest rates.
Interest rate risk is managed principally through monitoring interest rate gaps and by
having pre-approved limits for repricing bands.

f)

Operational risk
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of
causes, associated with the Fund’s processes, personnel, technology and
infrastructure, and from external factors other than credit, market and liquidity risks
such as those from legal and regulatory requirements and generally accepted
standards of corporate behaviour. Operational risks arise from all of the Fund’s
operations and are faced by all business entities.
The objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of
financial losses and damage to the Fund’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness
and to avoid control procedures that restrict initiative and creativity.
The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to
address operational risk is assigned to the Enterprise Growth Fund Limited, a related
party.

12.

Comparatives
Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to comply with changes in
presentation in the current year.
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Disaster Relief Revolving Fund
Index to Financial Statements
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Disaster Relief Revolving Fund
Statement of Changes in Funds
Year ended December 31, 2007
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

Balance at January 1, 2006
Net income

Disaster Relief
Fund
$

Retained
Earnings
$

Total
$

2,000,000

90,811

2,090,811

102,524

102,524

193,335

2,193,335

122,998

122,998

316,333

2,316,333

-

Balance at December 31, 2006
Net income

2,000,000
-

Balance at December 31, 2007

2,000,000

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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Tourism Loan Fund

Disaster Relief Revolving Fund
Notes to Financial Statements
Statement of Income
December 31, 2006
Year
ended
December
(Expressed
in Barbados
Dollars) 31, 2007
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
2007
$
Revenue
Interest on deposits
Interest income on loans

Expenses
Bank charges
Professional fees

Net income

125,156
2,575

107,011
2,767

127,731

109,778

75
4,658

39
7,215

4,733

7,254

122,998

102,524

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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Disaster Relief Revolving Fund
Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended December 31, 2007
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
2007
$

2006
$

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income

122,998

102,524

Operating profit before working capital changes
Decrease (increase) in interest receivable
Decrease (increase) in loans receivable
Increase in accounts payable
Increase in amounts due to related party

122,998
1,207
11,915
-

102,524
(1,245)
(116,776)
2,500
45,539

Cash generated from operations
Withholding tax paid

136,120
(15,730)

32,542
(13,368)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents for the year

120,391

19,174

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year

2,105,382

2,086,208

Cash and cash equivalents - end of year

2,225,773

2,105,382

Represented by:
Cash
Term deposits

22,014
2,203,759

11,912
2,093,470

2,225,773

2,105,382

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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Disaster Relief Revolving Fund
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2007
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
1.

Establishment and purpose
The Disaster Relief Revolving Fund (hereinafter referred to as ‘The Fund’) was established in
Barbados by the Minister of Finance and Economic Affairs in his Economic and Financial
Policies dated December 7, 2004. Financial resources, as determined by the Minister of
Agriculture, are paid into this Fund. These resources are used to provide agricultural
producers, who have been affected by a disaster, with access to a revolving loan facility that
offers lenient repayment terms, to assist in restoring their operations to their pre-disaster
status.
The Fund’s operations commenced on April 01, 2005 when the first contribution was
received.

2.

Significant accounting policies
Basis of preparation
These financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Board. They are prepared
under the historical cost convention.
Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with International Financial Reporting
Standards requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect amounts
reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.
Revenue recognition
Interest income is recognised in the income statement on the accrual basis for all interest
bearing instruments using the effective yield method. Interest income includes interest
earned on time deposits.
Foreign currencies
Transactions arising during the year involving foreign currencies are converted at the rates
prevailing on the dates the transactions occurred. Differences arising from fluctuations in
exchange rates are included in the statement of income.
Taxation
The Fund applied to the Minister of Finance and Economic Affairs by letter for an exemption
from corporation tax, and is awaiting a response. These financial statements are prepared
under the assumption that this exemption will be granted as has been the case for similar
funds.
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Disaster Relief Revolving Fund
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2007
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
2.

Significant accounting policies …continued
Loans receivable and allowances for loan losses
Loans are categorised as originating loans and are carried at amortised cost. These loans are
secured by promissory notes.
A loan is considered to be impaired when principal and interest are past due ninety days or
more, or, there is objective evidence that the Fund will not be able to collect all amounts due
according to the contractual terms of the loan. The amount of the provision is the difference
between the carrying amount and the recoverable amount of the loan. The recoverable
amount of the loan is the present value of the expected cash flows discounted based on the
interest rate at inception of the loan.
When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related allowance. Any subsequent
amounts recovered are credited to the provision for loan losses in the statement of income.

3.

Cash and cash equivalents
This includes a term deposit of $2,203,759 (2006 - $2,093,470) that was placed with RBTT
Bank Barbados Limited for a period of three months. The deposit earns interest at the rate of
4.75% per annum (2006 – 6.0%) and matures on March 17, 2008.

4.

Loans receivable
Loans receivable are comprised as follows:
Recipient

Repayment Date

Interest Rate

2007
$

2006
$

Carlson Forde

October 30, 2012

3%

26,244

29,740

Egbert Maloney

April 28, 2012

3%

36,818

36,818

Emmerson Greaves

January 30, 2011

3%

19,269

23,492

Glenroy Grant

October 30, 2010

3%

8,180

9,443

Jacqueline Bartlett

July 30, 2012

3%

32,755

34,373

Jennoah Woodley

April 28, 2010

3%

6,324

6,324

Kelvin Phillips

August 31, 2009

3%

4,296

5,611

133,886

145,801
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Disaster Relief Revolving Fund
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2007
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
5.

Related party transactions
The Fund is administered by the Agricultural Development Fund. At December 31, 2007 the
Fund had a balance due to the Agricultural Development Fund of $74,564 (2006 - $74,564).
This balance is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
The Enterprise Growth Fund Limited serves as manager of, and provides disbursement and
administrative assistance to, the Fund. As a result of providing such services, the Enterprise
Growth Fund Limited receives a management fee based on the value of the gross assets of
the Fund, calculated quarterly and payable in arrears, at a rate of 0.5%.
Charges of $46,746 (2006 - $43,822) were incurred during the year in respect of
management fees payable to the Enterprise Growth Fund Limited for management services
provided to the Disaster Relief Revolving Fund. These fees are borne out of the funds of the
Agricultural Development Fund.

6.

Commitments
At the year end, the Fund had Nil (2006 - $1,162) commitments outstanding in respect of
loans.

7.

Financial instruments
Fair value
The methods and assumptions used to estimate fair value of each class of financial
instruments are as follows:
a)

Cash, withholding tax refundable, term deposits, due to related party and accounts
payable.
Due to the short-term nature of these financial assets and liabilities their carrying values
approximate their fair values.

b)

Loans receivable
The rates of interest in the portfolio reflect market conditions and their carrying
amounts, net of provision for loan losses, approximate their fair values.

Interest rate risk
The Fund invests in fixed interest rate securities and the loan interest rates are fixed by the
Fund managers based on the prime rate. The Fund therefore can exert some measure of
control over its exposure to interest rate risk, and so the risk is not considered to be
significant.
Credit risk
The Fund had no significant credit risk at the end of the financial year.
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Antillean Granite and Marble Inc., Warrens, St. Michael
This company commenced operations in 2001 to provide countertops, tables and other household accessories in natural
stone including granite and marble. In 2007 new cutting edge machinery was acquired, through financing from the
Industrial, Investment and Employment Fund, to improve and expand the plant’s production capacity and efficiency.
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P.O. Box 690C
Bridgetown, Barbados

Auditors' Report
To the Trustees of Industrial, Investment and Employment Fund
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Industrial, Investment and Employment
Fund, which comprise the balance sheet as at December 31, 2007, statement of income, statement of
changes in fund, statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory notes.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility includes: designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying
appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the
financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Industrial, Investment and Employment Fund as at December 31, 2007, its financial performance and its
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Chartered Accountants
Bridgetown, Barbados
June 4, 2008

2
KPMG, a Barbados partnership, is a Barbados member firm of
KPMG International, a Swiss cooperative.

116

“Fostering Growth”

ENTERPRISE GROWTH FUND LIMITED – ANNUAL REPORT 2007

ENTERPRISE GROWTH FUND LIMITED – ANNUAL REPORT 2007

“Fostering Growth”

117

INDUSTRIAL, INVESTMENT AND EMPLOYMENT FUND
Statement of Income
For the year ended December 31, 2007
with comparative figures for December 31, 2006
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

Notes

2007

2006

540,988

497,221

348,579
3,285,300
2,000,000
100,000
11,810
4,255
4,172
26,150

343,143
381,772
100,000
12,012
479
10,747
14,663

5,780,266

862,816

(5,239,278)

(365,595)

Revenue
Interest Income

$

Expenses
Management fees
Provision for loan losses
Write off of equity investment
Write off of bond
Legal fees
Bank charges
Advertising
Professional fees

6
4
6

Net loss

$

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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INDUSTRIAL, INVESTMENT AND EMPLOYMENT FUND
Statement of Changes in Fund
For the year ended December 31, 2007
with comparative figures for December 31, 2006
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

Contribution
Balances, January 1, 2006

$

Accumulated
Deficit

15,000,000
-

Net loss

15,000,000

Balances, December 31, 2006

-

Net loss
Balances, December 31, 2007

$

15,000,000

Total

(2,031,856)

12,968,144

(365,595)

(365,595)

(2,397,451)

12,602,549

(5,239,278)2

(5,239,278)

(7,636,729)

7,363,271

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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INDUSTRIAL, INVESTMENT AND EMPLOYMENT FUND
Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended December 31, 2007
with comparative figures for December 31, 2006
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

2007
Operating Activities
Net loss
Provision for loan losses
Write off of equity investment
Write off of bond
Interest income

$

Operating loss before working capital changes
Loans receivable
Equity investment
Due from related party
Accounts payable
Interest received
Net cash (used in) from operating activities
(Decrease) increase in cash and short term deposits
Cash and short term deposits – beginning of year
Cash and short term deposits – end of year

$

2006

(5,239,278)
3,285,300
2,000,000
100,000
(540,988)

(365,595)
381,772
100,000
(497,221)

(394,966)

(381,044)

(5,429,160)
(2,000,000)
1,000,000
1,005
529,352

(714,283)
4,000,000
4,345
480,134

(6,293,769)

3,389,152

(6,293,769)

3,389,152

9,554,831

6,165,679

3,261,062

9,554,831

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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INDUSTRIAL, INVESTMENT AND EMPLOYMENT FUND
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2007
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)
1. Incorporation and Principal Activities
The Industrial, Investment and Employment Fund (“IIEF” or the “Fund”) began operations in Barbados on
August 9, 2002 with contributions from the Government of Barbados. The Fund is being capitalised up
to a maximum of $25 million, by instalments of $5 million each year from 2002. The contributions are
used to provide financing to local manufacturers to enhance and expand the productive capacity of the
manufacturing sector in order to improve the level of competitiveness and financial viability. Over the
past years the fund has not performed in accordance with expectations; this resulted in funds advanced
not being fully utilized and therefore the Government of Barbados has not made any additional
contributions for 2007.
The Fund is not a legal entity but functions as a segregated pool of funds and it is managed by
Enterprise Growth Fund Limited (EGFL). The Investment Committee and the Board of Directors of
EGFL are ultimately responsible for the approval and ratification of loans issued by IIEF.
The financial statements were authorised for issue by the directors on June 4, 2008.
2. Significant accounting policies
(a) Basis of preparation
The financial statements are prepared in Barbados dollars on the historic cost basis in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) promulgated by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB).
IFRS incorporate all International Accounting Standards (IAS) and
interpretations issued by its predecessor body, the International Accounting Standards Committee. The
preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets, liabilities, and contingent assets and
contingent liabilities at the balance sheet date and the income and expenses for the year then ended.
Actual amounts could differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.
(b) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are not yet effective for the
year ended December 31, 2007, and have not yet been applied in preparing these financial
statements, those which were considered relevant to the Fund are as follows:
Amendments to IAS 32 Financial instruments: Presentation and IAS 1, Presentation of Financial
Statements is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2009. The amendments
allow certain instruments that would normally be classified as liabilities to be classified as equity if
certain conditions are met. Where such instruments are reclassified, the entity is required to disclose
the amount, the timing and the reason for the reclassification.
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INDUSTRIAL, INVESTMENT AND EMPLOYMENT FUND
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2007
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(c) Cash and short term deposits
Cash and short term deposits comprise cash on hand, cash at bank and call and fixed deposits with
original maturity dates of 90 days or less.
(d) Revenue recognition
Interest income on loans receivable is accounted for on an accrual basis and is classified as accrued
interest receivable to the extent that it is not received in the period in which it accrues.
Loans are placed on a non-accrual basis when there is reasonable doubt regarding the collectibility of
principal or interest or when principal and/or interest payments are ninety days or more in arrears. Upon
classification of a loan to a non-accrual basis, any previously accrued but unpaid interest thereon is
reversed against the current period. Interest is only accrued to the extent that unpaid interest is paid and
total accrued interest does not exceed one hundred and eighty days. In subsequent periods, interest
received on non-accrual loans is recorded as income only if management has determined that the loans
do not require specific provisions, otherwise all amounts are credited to principal.
(e) Provision for loan losses
Specific provisions are made on an individual basis, where management is of the opinion that collection
is doubtful.
(f) Contributions
Contributions from the government are recorded in the statement of changes in Fund.
(g) Investment
Investments are recorded at cost. Provision for losses is made at a level considered adequate to absorb
anticipated losses based on specific provisions considering the current economic conditions and other
relevant factors.
(g) Impairment
The carrying amounts of the Fund’s assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated.
An impairment loss is recognized whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable
amount. Impairment losses are recognized in the income statement.
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INDUSTRIAL, INVESTMENT AND EMPLOYMENT FUND
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2007
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

3. Cash and short term deposits

Cash
Short term deposits

2007

2006

$

26,499
3,234,563

879,678
8,675,153

$

3,261,062

9,554,831

Short term deposits consist primarily of fixed deposits with interest rates ranging from 4.95% (2006 –
5.0% to 5.75%) per annum.
4. Equity investment
The Fund has invested in 2,000,000 Class “A” preferred shares (2006- nil) in Hardwood Housing Inc.
These shares are subject to a cumulative dividend of 10% (ten percent) per share per annum. The Fund
reserves the right to convert any dividend not paid within 12 calendar months of their due date, into
additional Class “A” shares at the price of $1.00 per share.
This equity investment has been fully written off at December 31, 2007.
5. Management fees
Management fees are due to EGFL and are based on a contractual percentage of the average gross
assets of the fund outstanding. Included in accounts payable are Management Fees Payable of $87,451
and $87,007 as at December 31, 2007 and 2006 respectively.
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INDUSTRIAL, INVESTMENT AND EMPLOYMENT FUND
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2007
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

6. Loans, Bonds and Lines of Credit Receivable - Net
Loans
Bonds
Revolving lines of credit

Less Provision:
Balance, beginning of year
Increase in provision for loan losses
Write off of bond

Balance, end of year

2007

2006

$

8,194,666
200,000
1,354,614

2,506,905
200,000
1,613,215

$

9,749,280

4,320,120

$

2,292,941
3,285,300
100,000

1,811,169
381,772
100,000

$

5,678,241

2,292,941

$

4,071,039

2,027,179

2007

2006

$

1,354,614
8,394,666

1,613,215
2,706,905

$

9,749,280

4,320,120

The maturity structure of loans, bonds and lines of credit receivable is:
On demand (Lines of credit)
Over 5 years (Bonds and Loans)

The interest rate applicable to the loans and lines of credit receivable was 5.50% at 2007 (2006 5.50%). The interest rate applicable to all bonds was 10% at 2007 (2006 – 10%).
The maximum loan size allowed is the greater of $2,000,000 and 8% of the total capitalisation balance of
the Fund. Loans with repayment periods of five (5) years or less will be granted a grace period (the
period during which only interest payments are due and payable). For loans with repayment periods in
excess of five (5) years, but less than or equal to ten (10) years, the grace period will be two (2) years.
Loans with a repayment period in excess of ten (10) years, the grace period will be for three (3) years.
The grace period is limited to the length of the contract for construction or installation. Loans receivable
includes revolving lines of credit which are due on demand.
Security is by way of first or second legal mortgages on property (ies) owned by the borrower(s).
7. Commitments
At the balance sheet date, $3,208,814 (2006 - $4,766,675) of the loans approved had not yet been
disbursed.
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INDUSTRIAL, INVESTMENT AND EMPLOYMENT FUND
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2007
(Amounts in Barbados Dollars)

8. Corporation tax
Industrial, Investment and Employment Fund (IIEF) is not a legal entity, but functions as a segregated
pool of funds and therefore under the Income Tax Act, the tax treatment is similar to that of a nonincorporated entity. In previous years the IIEF has applied to the Ministry of Finance and Economic
Affairs for waiver of corporation and withholding taxes and in 2006 the Ministry communicated to IIEF
that waiver was granted for 2003 to 2005.
The Income Tax Act Cap 73 has been amended to exempt from tax, funds provided by Government and
used for purposes of promoting the development of sectors of the economy.
9. Financial Risk Management
(a) Introduction and overview
The Fund has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:
credit risk
liquidity risk
market risk
operational risk
This note presents information about the Fund’s exposure to each of the above risks, the objectives,
policies and processes for measuring and managing risk and the management of capital.
Risk Management Framework
The Trustees of the Fund have overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Fund’s
risk management framework. Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the
risks faced by the Fund, in order to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and the
adherence to limits. These policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market
conditions, products and services offered.
(b) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet
its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Fund’s loan securities.
Loans receivable
The Fund’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer. A loan provisioning policy has been implemented and all clients are categorized according to
their credit risk profile. These assessments are used in order to determine the extent of provisions to be
made for the financial year.
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December 31, 2007
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9. Financial Risk Management, Continued
Management of credit risk
Management has responsibility for the management of credit risk in accordance with the Fund’s
established policies.
Exposure to credit risk
The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure.
exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:

The maximum

Carrying Amount
2007

2006
2,027,179
9,554,831

Loans, bonds and lines of credit receivable
Cash and short term deposits

$

4,584,146
3,261,062

Total

$

7,845,208

11,582,010

Impaired loans and Securities
Impaired loans and securities are loans and securities for which management determines that it is
probable that it will be unable to collect all principal and interest due according to the contractual terms
of the loans/securities agreement(s).
Past due but not impaired loans
Loans and securities where contractual interest or principal payments are past due but management
believes that impairment is not appropriate on the basis of the level of security/collateral available and/or
the stage of collection of amounts owed.
Allowances for impairment
Management monitors the aging and credit quality of each loan facility extended through the monthly
preparation of a delinquency report. Allowances are established on a per loan basis as set in the Fund’s
Loan Provisioning Policy.
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9. Financial Risk Management, Continued
Concentration of credit risk
Concentration of credit risk exists if a number of clients are engaged in similar activities or are located in
the same industry sector or have similar economic characteristics such that their ability to meet
contractual obligations would be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions.
Concentration of credit risk indicates the relative sensitivity of the Fund’s performance to developments
affecting a particular industry or geographical location. Management does not believe that the
concentration is unusual or provides undue risks.
Write-off Policy
The Fund writes off a loan/security balance (and any related allowances for impairment) when it
determines that the loans/securities are uncollectible. This determination is reached after considering
information such as the occurrence of significant changes in the borrower’s/issuer’s financial position
such that the borrower/issuer can no longer pay the obligation, or that proceeds from collateral will not
be sufficient to pay back the entire exposure.
The Fund holds collateral against loans in the form of mortgage debentures over property, bills of sale
and/or personal or government guarantees.
(c) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations from its financial
liabilities.
Management of Liquidity Risk
Management’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without
incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Fund’s reputation.
(d) Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and
equity prices will affect the Fund’s income or the value of its holding of financial instruments. The
objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable
parameters, while optimizing the return on risk.
Market risk encompasses liquidity risk and price risk, both of which arise in the normal course of
business. Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund may be unable to meet a financial commitment to a
customer or creditor when due. Price risk is the risk to earnings that arises from changes in interest
rates, commodity prices and their implied volatilities.
Management of market risks
Market risks are measured in accordance with established standards.
(e) Currency risk
The Fund had no significant currency risk at the end of the financial year.
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9. Financial Risk Management, Continued
Capital Management Policy
The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain creditor and market confidence
and to sustain future development of the business. There were no changes in the Board’s approach to
capital management during the year.
(f) Exposure to interest rate risk
The principal risk to which non-trading portfolios are exposed is the risk of loss from fluctuations in the
future cash flows or fair values of financial instruments because of a change in market interest rates.
Except as disclosed in Notes 3 and 4 the Fund does not have any exposure to interest rate risk.
(g) Operational risk
Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes, associated with
the Fund’s processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors other than
credit, market and liquidity risks such as those from legal and regulatory requirements and generally
accepted standards of corporate behaviour. Operational risks arise from all of the Fund’s operations and
are faced by all business entities.
The objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses and
damage to the Fund’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control procedures that
restrict initiative and creativity.
The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address operational
risk is delegated to the management of the Fund.

Financial income and expense
2006

2007
Interest income on unimpaired held-to-maturity investments
Interest income on bank deposits

$

Financial income
Financial expenses
Net Finance Costs
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$

244,671
296,317

84,829
412,392

540,988

497,221

-

-

540,988

497,221
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10. Fair value disclosure of financial instruments
Fair value of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the Balance
Sheet are as follows:
2007
Carrying Amount
Cash and short term deposits
$
Loans, bonds, LOC receivable, net
Interest receivable
Withholding tax receivable
Accounts payable

3,261,062
4,071,039
28,457
121,906
(119,193)

2007
Fair Value

2006
Carrying Value

2006
Fair Value

3,261,062
9,749,280
28,457
121,906
(119,193)

9,554,831
2,027,179
47,285
91,442
(118,188)

9,554,831
4,320,120
47,285
91,442
(118,188)

The Fund’s activity as a provider of financing to local manufacturers to enhance and expand the
productive capacity of the manufacturing sector is one which involves transactions, which are
speculative in nature. Financial instruments consist of cash and short term deposits, loans receivable,
bonds receivable, line of credit (net), interest due on short term deposits and accounts payable.
Fair value
Fair value amounts represent the approximate values at which financial instruments could be exchanged
in current transactions between willing parties. There is no available trading market for these financial
instruments and therefore, it is not possible to determine independently the estimated fair values. The
fair values of financial instruments are considered to approximate their book values.
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Vanavah Edwards – First prize winner of $75,000
“Duty Free Data Card Entry”

Second prize was awarded to Tony and Cheryl Brathwaite
“D’ Cricket Game”

Fourth prize awarded to Patrick Harewood
“Golden Apple Pies”

Third prize was awarded to Sylvia Dowridge
“Send your friends to Barbados”

Fifth prize awarded to George Richards
“Solar Torch & Power System”

National Innovation Competition 2007/2008
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The Innovation Fund
Statement of Changes in Funds
Year ended December 31, 2007
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
Innovation
Fund
$
Balance at December 31, 2005
Grants disbursed (Note 7)
Net loss for the year
Balance at December 31, 2006
Net loss for the year
Balance at December 31, 2007

Accumulated
Deficit
$

5,000,000

(625,355)

(40,000)

-

-

(211,190)

4,960,000

(836,545)

4,960,000

(543,106)
(1,379,651)

Total
$
4,374,645
(40,000)
(211,190)
4,123,455
(543,106)
3,580,349

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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The Innovation Fund
Statement of Loss
Year ended December 31, 2007
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
2007

2006

$

$

141,770

109,616

1,391

3,582

473

117

3,936

7,499

148,134

151,682

7,500

6,900

Revenue
Interest income
Expenses
Advertising and marketing
Bank charges
Legal fees
Management fees
Professional and consultancy fees
Provision for impairment of investments (Note 4)

453,449

-

614,883

169,780

Other revenue/(expenses)
Sponsorship revenue - competition
Competition expenses

Loss before taxation
Taxation
Net loss for the year

-

37,000

(52,242)

(174,323)

(52,242)

(137,323)

(525,355)

(197,487)

(17,751)

(13,703)

(543,106)

(211,190)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended December 31, 2007
(expressed in Barbados dollars)

Cash flows from operating activities
Loss before taxation
Adjustment for:
Provision for impairment of investments
Operating loss before working capital adjustments:
Decrease ( increase) in interest receivable
Purchase of investments
Purchase of time deposits
Proceeds from disposal of time deposits
Increase in accounts payable and accruals
Decrease in due to related party

2007
$

2006
$

(525,355)

(197,487)

453,449

-

(71,906)
32,614
(655,466)
(2,500,000)
3,410,736
1,750
(55)

(197,487)
(15,680)
(111,723)
(3,480,233)
3,996,195
(109,018)

Cash generated from operations
Withholding tax paid

217,673
(17,751)

82,054
(13,703)

Net cash from operating activities

199,922

68,351

Cash flows from financing activities
Grants disbursed
Net increase in cash for the year
Cash - at beginning of the year
Cash - at end of the year

-

(40,000)

199,922

28,351

91,200

62,849

291,122

91,200

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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The Innovation Fund
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2007
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
1.

Establishment and purpose
The Innovation Fund was established for the purpose of providing funding and technical
assistance to small and emerging innovative enterprises to properly develop a concept or
product and to develop the business to the stage where it can obtain the additional financing
needed to commercialise the concept or product fully. It was funded by Bds$5,000,000
transferred by the Crown to Trustees under a Deed of Trust, dated October 2002.

2.

Significant accounting policies
Basis of preparation
These financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Board. They are prepared
under the historical cost convention.
Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with International Financial Reporting
Standards requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect amounts
reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.
Revenue recognition
Interest income is recognised in the income statement on the accrual basis for all interest
bearing instruments using the effective yield method. Interest income includes interest
earned on time deposits.
Taxation
The Fund has applied to the Minister of Finance and Economic Affairs for a waiver of the
payment of withholding tax and exemption from the payment of corporation tax. Tax
withheld from interest earned on term deposits is recognised as a taxation charge in the
statement of loss.
Term deposits with banks
These are call and fixed deposits with original maturity dates of 90 days or less.
Equity Investments
Equity investments are initially recorded at cost, being the fair value consideration given, and
include acquisition charges associated with the investments. These are privately held
unquoted equity investments. They are carried at cost based on available information and do
not necessarily represent the amount that might ultimately be realised, since such amounts
depend on future circumstances. Because of the inherent uncertainties of valuation, the
assigned values may differ significantly from the values that would have been used, had
more current information been available, and the difference could be material.
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3.

Term deposits with banks

Financial Institution

Date of Maturity

Interest Rate

Principal ($)

March 24, 2008

4.75%

2,528,632

January 12, 2007

5.25%

3,439,368

2007
RBTT Bank B’dos Ltd.
2006
RBTT Bank B’dos Ltd.
4.

Investments
The Fund has committed to invest in 8% cumulative, redeemable, Class A preferred shares at
$1 per share in the following companies:
a)

Advanced Energy Systems Inc. - 205,000 shares
These shares are to be redeemed no later than the fifth anniversary of the development
of a commercially viable device at the higher of a price that provides a 12% internal rate
of return and a price derived by multiplying the sum of the company’s net income for
the three most recent years by seven, then dividing that figure by the number of shares
outstanding.

b)

Ajeland Investments Inc. – 250,000 shares
These shares are to be redeemed no later than January 31, 2008 at a price no lower
than $1.47 per share.

c)

Birds Eye Music Inc. – 250,000 shares
These shares are to be redeemed no later than October 31, 2009 at a price no lower
than $1.47 per share.

d)

Investment & Management Services – 250,000 shares
These shares are to be redeemed no later than November 30, 2008 at a price no lower
than $0.55 per share.

e)

Ezee Kricket Inc. – 100,000 shares
These shares are to be redeemed no later than April 30, 2012 at a price no lower than
$1.48 per share.

f)

Coral Isle Production Inc. – 210,000 shares
These shares are to be redeemed no later than July 31, 2014 at a price no lower than
$1.88 per share.

The Fund has committed to invest in 10% cumulative, redeemable, Class A preferred shares
at $2 per share in the following company:
a)

Blue Waters Inc. – 125,000 shares
These shares are to be redeemed no later than December 31, 2011 at a price no lower
than $3.20 per share.
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Year ended December 31, 2007
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
4.

Investments …continued
The Fund has committed to invest in 10% cumulative, redeemable, Class A preferred shares
at $1 per share in the following companies:
a)

G. O. D. I. S. – 250,000 shares
These shares are to be redeemed no later than April 30, 2010 at a price no lower than
$1.05 per share.

b)

Melange Production Inc. – 210,000 shares
These shares are to be redeemed no later than December 31, 2013 at a price no lower
than $1.75 per share.

c)

Abus Technology Inc. – 200,000 shares
These shares are to be redeemed no later than May 31, 2014 at a price no lower than
$1.75 per share.

The Fund has committed to invest in cumulative, redeemable, Class A preferred shares at $1
per share in the following company:
a)

Smart Tie Inc - 31,000 shares
These shares are to be redeemed no later than April 30, 2008, with a 5% royalty on
sales revenue once the investment remains with the fund.

At year end, the Fund had advanced the following amounts to the companies; however, no
shares were issued:

Abus Technology Inc.
Advanced Energy Systems
Ajeland Investments Inc.
Birds Eye Music Inc.
Hit For Six Inc.
Investment & Management Services
Melange Productions Inc.
Smart Tie Inc

Less: provision for impairment of investments:
Abus Technology Inc.
Advanced Energy Systems
Ajeland Investments Inc.
Birds Eye Music Inc.
Smart Tie Inc
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2007
$

2006
$

200,000
82,449
250,000
250,000
250,000
190,737
31,000

82,449
250,000
231,226
850
3,155
31,000

1,254,186

598,720

(40,000)
(82,449)
(250,000)
(50,000)
(31,000)

-

(453,449)

-

800,737

598,720
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The Innovation Fund
Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended December 31, 2007
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
4.

Investments …continued
Based on a review of the investments portfolio, management has made a provision for the
impairment of investments. A 100% provision has been made for Advance Energy Systems,
Ajeland Investments Inc. and Smart Tie Inc. and a 20% provision has been made for Abus
Technology Inc. and Birds Eye Music Inc.

5.

Due to related party
At December 31, 2007, the amount due to the Enterprise Growth Fund Limited was $34,407
(2006 - $34,462). It is unsecured, interest-free and is repayable on demand.
Related party transactions
The Enterprise Growth Fund Limited serves as manager of, and provides disbursement and
administrative assistance to, the Fund. As a result of providing such services, the Enterprise
Growth Fund Limited receives a management fee based on the value of the average gross
assets of the Fund, calculated quarterly and payable in arrears, at a rate of 0.75% per
quarter.
Charges of $148,134 (2006 - $151,682) were incurred during the year in respect of
management fees payable to the Enterprise Growth Fund Limited.

6.

Commitments
At year end, the following commitments in respect of investments were outstanding.

Advanced Energy Systems Inc.
Birds Eye Music Inc.
Coral Isle Products Inc.
Ezee Kricket Inc.
G.O.D.I.S Corp.
Investment and Management Service
Melange Productions Inc.

7.

2007
$

2006
$

122,551
210,000
100,000
250,000
250,000
9,263

122,551
18,734
250,000
249,150
46,845

941,814

687,280

Grants
The Fund provides technical assistance grants to ensure that each viable project has the best
chance of realizing commercial success. Such grants when disbursed are recognised in the
accounts as a reduction in the equity of the Fund.

Grants disbursed
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Notes to Financial Statements
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(expressed in Barbados dollars)
8.

Risk management
Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
Fair value amounts represents estimates of the consideration that would be agreed upon
between knowledgeable, willing parties who are under no compulsion to act and is best
evidenced by a quoted market value, if one exists. The methods and assumptions used to
estimate fair value of each class of financial instruments are as follows:
a)

Cash, term deposits, interest receivable, accounts payable and due to related
party
Due to the short-term nature of these financial assets and liabilities their carrying
values approximate their fair values.

b)

Equity Investments
These are carried at cost since their fair values cannot be reasonably
determined.

Interest rate risk
The Fund invests in fixed interest rate securities, as disclosed in Note 3, and so this risk is
not considered to be significant.
Credit risk
The amount of the Fund’s exposure to credit risk is indicated by the carrying amount of its
financial assets. These include cash, term deposits with banks and interest receivable from
these deposits, all of which are placed with reputable banks. All of deposits were held with
one bank at December 31, 2007.
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Banks (Barbados) Breweries Limited and Banks DIH Limited celebrated the launch of Banks
Beer in the USA with a cocktail reception at the Breweries’ BrewSeum in Mid April 2008
“Banks” has long been recognised as one of Barbados’ signature products with significant export potential. Therefore the
Export Promotion and Marketing Fund, in line with its mandate to assist companies in generating exports, was willing to help
in the launch of the company’s products in the United States of America.
Many others in the United States, and hopefully beyond, will have the opportunity to experience what Barbadians know to
be a quality product. Once the targets are met, the achievements of Banks will redound to the benefit of the entire country.
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Export Promotion and Marketing Fund
Statement of Changes in Funds
Period January 31, 2007 to December 31, 2007
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
Retained
Earnings
$

Funds
$

Total
$

Funds received

-

16,449,954

16,449,954

Grants disbursed (Note 6)

-

(9,735,312)

(9,735,312)

Net income for the period

52,127

Balance at December 31, 2007

52,127

6,714,642

52,127
6,766,769

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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Export Promotion and Marketing Fund
Statement of Income
Period January 31, 2007 to December 31, 2007
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
2007
$
Revenue
Interest on deposits

259,533

Expenses
Advertising
Audit fees
Bank charges
Legal fees
Management fees

1,883
4,000
185
28,750
111,956
146,774

Income before taxation

112,759

Taxation (Note 5)

60,632

Net income for the period

52,127

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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Export Promotion and Marketing Fund
Statement of Cash Flows
Period January 31, 2007 to December 31, 2007
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
2007
$
Cash flows from operating activities
Income before taxation

112,759

Operating profit before working capital changes
Increase in interest receivable
Increase in accounts payable
Increase in amounts due to related party

112,759
(28,328)
4,000
3,618

Cash generated from operations
Withholding tax paid

92,049
(32,442)

Net cash from operating activities

59,607

Cash flows from financing activities
Contributions received from government
Grants disbursed

16,449,954
(9,735,312)

Net cash from financing activities

6,714,642

Cash and cash equivalents - end of period

6,774,249

Represented by:
Cash
Term deposits

1,985,217
4,789,032
6,774,249

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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Export Promotion and Marketing Fund
Notes to Financial Statements
Period January 31, 2007 to December 31, 2007
(expressed in Barbados dollars)
1.

Establishment and purpose
The Export Promotion and Marketing Fund (hereinafter referred to as ‘The Fund’) was
established by the Parliament of Barbados through the Export Promotion and Marketing Fund
Act, 2005. Financial resources, as determined by the Minister of Finance, are paid into this
Fund. The purposes of the Fund are to provide funding by way of a grant to corporate entities
including statutory corporations involved in the business of exporting and to assist these
entities with the development, promotion and marketing of products and services.
The Fund’s operations commenced on January 31, 2007 when the first contribution was
received.

2.

Significant accounting policies
Basis of preparation
These financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Board. They are prepared
under the historical cost convention.
Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with International Financial Reporting
Standards requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect amounts
reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from
those estimates.
Revenue recognition
Interest income is recognised in the income statement on the accrual basis for all interest
bearing instruments using the effective yield method. Interest income includes interest earned
on time deposits.
Taxation
The Fund applied to the Minister of Finance and Economic Affairs by letter for an exemption
from corporation tax, and is awaiting a response. These financial statements are prepared
under the assumption that this exemption had not been granted at the period end.

3.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash
Term deposit – RBTT

Date of Maturity

Interest Rate

February 14, 2008

5.25%

2007
$
1,985,217
4,789,032
6,774,429
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4.

Due to related party
At December 31, 2007, the amount due to the Enterprise Growth Fund Limited was $3,618. It
is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
Related party transactions
The Enterprise Growth Fund Limited serves as manager of, and provides disbursement and
administrative assistance to, the Fund. As a result of providing such services, the Enterprise
Growth Fund Limited receives a 1% management fee which is based on grants disbursed
during the period.
Charges of $111,956 were incurred during the period in respect of management fees payable
to the Enterprise Growth Fund Limited for management services provided to the Export
Promotion and Marketing Fund.

5.

Taxation
2007
$

Statement of Income:
Current tax charge
Withholding tax on interest received

28,190
32,442
60,632

Balance Sheet:
Corporation tax payable

28,190

Exemption from Corporation and Withholding taxes
The Fund applied to the Minister of Finance and Economic Affairs (“The Minister”) for a waiver
of the payment of withholding and corporation taxes.
Provision for corporation tax has been made in the absence of legislation approving the
request for such a waiver in respect of the current financial period.
6.

Grants disbursed
During the period, the following grants were disbursed:
2007
$
B.A.G Consulting Ltd
Banks Holdings Limited
Entertainment Network Inc.
Got Rhythm Inc.
Invest Barbados
Pyramid Entertainment Management Inc.
Tropical Blooms (B’dos) Inc.

60,000
20,930
51,857
55,000
9,344,241
152,684
50,600
9,735,312
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7.

Commitments
At period end, the following commitments were outstanding:
2007
$
Art & Stage Inc.
Banks Holdings Limited
Got Rhythm Inc.
Pyramid Entertainment Management Inc.
Tropical Blooms (B’dos) Inc.

841,559
2,350,670
321,000
297,316
655,250
4,465,795

Approvals
At period end, the amount of $8,975,320 was approved for Invest Barbados pending direction
from the Ministry of Finance.
8.

Financial instruments
Fair value
The company’s financial assets include cash and cash equivalents and interest receivable.
Financial liabilities include accounts payable and amounts due to related companies. The
carrying value of the company’s financial assets and liabilities are disclosed in the balance
sheet at their approximate fair value.
Interest rate risk
The Fund invests in fixed interest rate securities, as disclosed in Note 3, and so this risk is not
considered to be significant.
Credit risk
The Fund had no significant credit risk at the end of the financial period. The amount of the
Fund’s exposure to credit risk is indicated by the carrying amount of its financial assets.
These include cash, term deposits with banks and interest receivable from these deposits, all
of which are placed with reputable banks. All of the deposits were held with one bank at
December 31, 2007.
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